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e Launched hardware products for smartcard
system under the trademark of “HOMAC"

o Awarded with important smartcard and RFID
projects in Hong Kong
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e Winning of 2000 HK Industry Award
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e Listing on The Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited

e Establishment of wholly owned PRC subsidiary:
ITE (China) Limited in Shanghai

e Winning of 2001 HK Industry Award

e Acquisition of leading IT System Integrator, Quesco Holdings Limited
and Quesco Systems Limited on 7 December 2001
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e Accreditation of 1ISO 9001:2000 Quality Assurance System

e Launched new ISO15693 product series and solutions

e Patent filing of ISO15693 based Smart Key Management System (SKMS)
accepted by the State Intellectual Property Office of the People’s
Republic of China

Awarded with the first ISO15693 Smartlabel project in Hong Kong
Strategic Business Agreement signed with Shanghai Public Traffic Card

Company Limited (SPTCC) for the provision of value-added solutions
and services to its user community
Entered into distributor agreement with Texas Instruments for

marketing, sales and support of its product ranges

Became the sub-issuer of MULTOS

Receiving of Caring Company Award
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o RAMULTOSHIZ{TE

o BHEIBHARBIRIER

e Geographical expansion into Macao

¢ Appointed as an international channel partner of
Transcore, LP

e Patent filing of Automated Passenger Management
System (APMS) accepted by the State Intellectual
Property Office of the People’s Republic of China

o Accredited as one of the fastest growing technology
companies by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu in the
2003 Asia Pacific Technology Fast 500"

o ¥R EERM

 ¥& Transcore, LP ZEH BB
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REAFHZE
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KM R50058 | EHTER

e Establishment of ITE Sistema (Macau) Limitada

e Contract award of the Macau SAR Customs Services
" Automated Vehicle Clearance System” &
Public Security Forces Affairs Bureau
“Automated Passenger Clearance System”

e Successfully completed the ISO 9001:2000
Quality Assurance System Audit

e Awarded the Caring Company by The Hong Kong
Council of Social Service
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e Winning of “Hong Kong Awards For Industries 2005 — Machinery and
Equipment Design Award” for Automated Passenger Management
System (“APMS")

e Awarded of Computer Registration Management System of the
Construction Worker Registration Authority, HKSAR

e QSL passed the I1SO 9001:2000 Quality Assurance System

e Successfully completed the Hong Kong Marathon 2005

e Joined “Give Blood Give Live” — Blood Donation Day for the Hong Kong
Red Cross Blood Transfusion Service

e KEEDBARGIKE_STHEBIHHEE - HBRRMERER
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o FERIEER]EBISO 9001:2000fF BERRE R A FX

o RRINTTHE B FHA2005

o BHUOBEEBA T FERMTE

e Official launch of Computer Registration Management System of the
Construction Worker Registration Authority, HKSAR

e Overseas expansion in Middle East and Southeast Asia

e Establishment of Intellectual Property Rights Centre

e |TE Smartcard Solutions Ltd. implemented the first Automated
Passenger Clearance System (“APCS") of the Public Security Forces
Services Bureau, Macau SAR at the Barrier Gate Checkpoint

e |TE and Quesco staff completed the Hong Kong Marathon 2006

e |TE and Quesco received the “Caring Company Logo” by The Hong
Kong Council of Social Welfare for four years and two years
respectively

e Successfully completed Exhibition in “IT Week 2005” Macau

e The ITE Smart Key Management System Patent was successfully
granted by State Intellectual Property Office of the People’s Republic
of China
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¢ Winning of “Hong Kong Awards For Industries 2007 — Machinery
and Equipment Design Award Certificate of Merit” for “Wireless
Smartcard Transaction Controller featuring Bluetooth
technology”

o Official Launch of Extension of Macao Automated Passenger
Management System (“APMS")

e Granting of Research Funding by Innovation and Technology
Commission of HK to RF Tech Ltd.

e Forming Strategic Partnership with Macau Pass Card

e New Trademark and Logo for RF Tech Ltd.'s Software Product
Series (“intelli”)

e Granting of the First U.S. Design Patent by the United States
Patent and Trademark Office to RF Tech Ltd.
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Chairman's Statement EFE¥R &

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board (the “Board”) of Directors (the “Directors”), | hereby
present the annual results for ITE (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (together, “ITE” or the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March
2008.

Mission

The mission of the Group is to become the leading smartcard, radio
frequency identification (“RFID”) and biometrics product, solution provider
and system integrator in the world. ITE has been pioneering smartcard system
solutions and integration services and has been performing outstandingly
in the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (“Hong Kong” or
“HKSAR"), the Macao Special Administrative Region (“Macao”) and the
People’s Republic of China (“PRC"). With profound expertise, strong research
and development (“R&D") capability, proven track record and excellent
reputation in the industry, the Group has established a leading profile in
the industry and has taken a proactive approach to introduce innovative
and customised smartcard, RFID and biometrics applications to our clients.
Leveraging on our extensive industry experience and intellectual assets, ITE
is developing innovative products and multi-applications solutions for clients
from many industries and expanding our business activities to overseas

countries.
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Overview

On 12 May 2008, Sichuan Province was hit hard by one of the PRC’s worst
earthquake since 1949. This disaster has claimed the lives of more than
69,000 people and left hundreds of thousands of victims homeless. These
victims are desperately in need of help.

ITE Group of Companies reacted quickly and made donations to the relief
funds of three charity organizations, Hong Kong Red Cross, Oxfam Hong
Kong, World Vision of Hong Kong. We hope the donation fund can
contribute the caring pool to relief. ITE shall continue to contribute
generously to help victims of natural disasters while all staffs are willing to
lend a helping hand and show our social care by contributing voluntary
efforts.

Our innovative product subsidiary, RF Tech Limited (“RFT"), was among one
of the sixty-six companies honored on 23 January 2008 at the 2007 Hong
Kong Awards for Industries (“HKAI") presentation ceremony and gala dinner
at which the Chief Executive of the HKSAR, Mr Donald Tsang officiated.

HKAI was officially launched in 2005 by merging the former Hong Kong
Awards for Industry and Hong Kong Awards for Services, established in
1989 and 1997 respectively. The Organizing Committee of the HKAI, chaired
by the director-general of Trade and Industry, with members coming from
different trade and industrial organizations and industrial support bodies in
Hong Kong, provides overall co-ordination of the scheme. A total of 330
entries were received for 2007 HKAI, covering a wide range of industrial
and business sectors.
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The Directors are pleased to advise that our solution and professional services
subsidiary, ITE Smartcard Solutions Limited (“ITES”) successfully completed
the project awarded by the Public Security Forces Services Bureau of the
Macao Government for the design, delivery, commissioning and services of
the new extension of automated passenger management system (“APMS”).
The system was launched before the Chinese New Year Holidays of 2008.
Quickly after the launch, the border clearance transaction hit historical record
with clearance processing rate in exceed of 5,000 passengers per lane per
day.

Driven by our core competence, the Group has continued to develop our
businesses and intellectual assets. We are confident that the Road-to-Success
has been soundly been founded.

Appreciation
I would like to take this opportunity to express my deepest thanks to my
directors, management and staff for their dedication and hard work, and

shareholders, financiers and business partners for their continual support.

Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 June 2008
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Management of the Group has continued to utilise our professional and
committed workforce and financial resources to achieve maximum return

to our shareholders.
Business Review
Marketing and Operation

During the year, ITES received and completed a new order from our client in
the Middle East to supply another set of APMS for implementation in the
second international airport of the country. An order from our technology
partner for a pilot-run APMS in the Asia Pacific Region was also confirmed
with the commissioning of system in the first quarter of fiscal year 2009.
Our Macao wholly-owned subsidiary, ITE Sistema (Macau) Limitada (“ITEM"),
tendered as the prime contractor for the new phase of APMS of the Public
Security Forces Services Bureau of the Macao Government. The result of
tender bid is expected to come in the second quarter of fiscal year 2009.
The Directors remain positive that the business opportunities associated
with the APMS products and solutions shall remain the driving force of ITE's

overseas growth.

Within the Hong Kong market, ITES has been awarded a number of new
contracts for different applications, including one from the Electrical and
Mechanical Services Department for the design and delivery of access control
system for the Psychiatric Wards at Tai Po Hospital, one for the design and
supply of smartmeter system for the Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology.

During the year, our subsidiary, Quesco Systems Limited (“QSL"), continued
to win the contracts for the provision of information technology contract
staff services from a number of existing clients. QSL's overall turnover and
gross profit have a double-digit increase above those of the fiscal year 2007.

Innovation and Intellectual

During the year, the Group has continued to create intellectual capital and
invest into the intellectual asset development and property rights protection.
Focusing on innovation and technology, a number of R&D programs and
new management practices and methodologies were initiated. RFT has been
aggressively participating in university collaboration of R&D and technology
transfer. Since 2005, we have entered into collaboration with four local
universities, namely, the University of Hong Kong, the Chinese University of
Hong Kong, the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology and the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University. The technological areas cover those of
electronics, material sciences, computer sciences and industrial product
design.
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We were also granted the first United States Design Patent, Patent No: US
D561,052S, which gives us the title to the patent right to exclude others
from making, using, offering for sale, or selling our APMS design throughout
the United States of America, or importing the design into the United States
of America for the term of fourteen years from the date of grant of patent
on 5 February 2008.

Social Responsibility

The Group has continued to gain recognition as a socially responsible
enterprise, we are pleased to receive for the sixth consecutive year the Caring
Company 2007/8 Awards from the Hong Kong Council of Social Service for
our good corporate citizenship, which the Group shall continue to practice
actively.

Adding to the existing training schemes of Youth Pre-employment Training
Programme of the Labour Department, the Work Study Programme of the
Chinese University of Hong Kong and the ‘Preferred Graduate’ Development
Programme of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University, the City University of
Hong Kong Industrial Attachment Scheme and Co-operative Education
Scheme will be supported by ITE in 2008.

Future Prospect

Backed by our set of core values and strength, the Group firmly strives for a
more level playing environment within the local market. Despite the increase
in operating costs and inflation, we have managed to maintain profitability
in this fiscal year while laying foundation to meet the future challenges. As
our efficiency and effectiveness have geared up quickly, the Directors are
looking forward to another profitable year in the fiscal year 2009.

Financial Performance

For the year ended 31 March 2008, the Group recorded a total turnover of
approximately HK$77 million, representing an increase of 16% over last
year. Profit for the year attributable to the shareholders of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2008 was approximately HK$1.09 million as
compared to approximately HK$0.96 million for last year.
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Turnover Breakdown by Main Business Segments
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Segmental Information

During the year, the Group recorded an increase in turnover for about 16%
when compared with last year. The Group’s gross profit margin was also
increased from 17% in last year to 18% in current year.

During the year, the Group continued to concentrate its resources on its
core business development, i.e. to provide the smartcard systems, RFID and
information technology (“IT") services. The service revenue generated from
this segment then increased for 21% to approximately HK$19.7 million
(2007: HK$16.2 million). Besides, within the same segment, the maintenance
income decreased slightly for 1% to approximately HK$4.3 million (2007:
HK$4.4 million).

For consultancy service segment, the turnover increased significantly for
about 16% when compared with last year. With the significant increase in
turnover, the profit margin remained at 16%.
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The Group’s administrative expenses had increased for approximately 7%.
The increase was mainly due to the reasonable increase in administrative
staff cost and operating expenses.

The finance costs decreased by 17% to approximately HK$1.2 million (2007:
HK$1.4 million) for the year as a result of decreases in interest rates.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Treasury Policies

The Group generally financed its operations with its internally generated
cash flows and bank borrowings. As at 31 March 2008, the Group had
outstanding borrowings of HK$10,755,714, comprising secured bank loans
of HK$6,455,737 and bank overdrafts of HK$4,299,977. As at 31 March
2008, the current ratio of the Group was 1.36 (2007: 1.29) while the liquidity
ratio was 1.29 (2007: 1.21).

The Group continues to adopt a conservative approach towards its treasury
policy. The Group strives to reduce exposure to credit risk by performing
ongoing credit evaluations of the financial condition of its customers. Besides,
the Group’s liquidity and financing arrangements are also reviewed regularly.

Taking into consideration the banking facilities granted, stringent cost control
and the existing financial resources available to the Group, it is believed
that the Group should have adequate financial resources to meet its
operation, development requirements and investments in the future.

Significant Investments
The Group had no significant investments during the year under review.

Material Acquisitions or Disposals of Subsidiaries
and Affiliated Companies

During the year under review, the Group had no acquisitions and disposals
of subsidiaries and affiliated companies.

Employment Information

The Group recognises that its staff is one of the Group’s most important
assets. Aiming at providing competitive salary packages, the Group adjusts
employees’ salary level in close association with the performance,
qualifications and experience of individual staff as well as labour market
conditions. In addition to the regular remuneration, discretionary bonus
and share options may be awarded to eligible employees with reference to
individual performance and the Group’s business performance.

The Group enjoys good relations with staff and has not experienced any
disruption of operations due to major labour disputes. In addition to the
remuneration as mentioned above, the Group also provides fringe benefits
which comply with the relevant laws and regulations of the PRC and Hong
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Kong including contributions to society security scheme of the PRC and
contribution to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme of Hong Kong.
Besides, the Group also provides on-going training programmes for its
employees to keep them abreast of the latest market trends and new
technologies.

As at 31 March 2008, the Group had 228 (2007: 215) full-time employees,
of which 210 are based in Hong Kong and the rest are in the PRC. Staff
costs, including directors’ emoluments, was approximately HK$57 million
(2007: HK$50 million) for the year ended 31 March 2008. During the year,
the Company has not granted any share option to any of its Directors and
employees.

Charges on Group Assets

As at 31 March 2008, time deposits of HK$16,773,222 (2007:
HK$15,806,889) and available-for-sale financial assets of HK$1,653,600
(2007: HK$1,487,900) were pledged to banks to secure certain banking
facilities of the Group.

Future Plans for Material Investments

The Group did not have any plans for material investment and acquisition
of material capital assets as at 31 March 2008.

Gearing Ratio

At 31 March 2008, the gearing ratio of the Group, which is calculated as
the ratio of total secured bank loans due after one year to shareholders’
funds, was nil (2007: nil).

Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rates and
Related Hedges

The Group’s assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses are mainly denominated
in HK$, United States dollars (“US$"), Macau Patacas (“MOP") and Renminbi
(“RMB"). The exchange rates between HK$, US$, MOP and RMB have been
very steady for the past few years. During the year, the Group generally
used the receipts from customers and bank loans to pay its suppliers and
meet its capital requirements. They are denominated in the local currency
of the place in which the subsidiaries operate. The Group does not currently
engage in hedging to manage possible exchange rate risk as the Group
considers the cost associated with such hedging arrangements would exceed
the benefits. However, management will continue to monitor the possible
exposure to exchange rate risk and will take such measures as it deems
prudent.

Contingent Liability

At 31 March 2008, the Company has issued corporate guarantees to banks
in respect of banking facilities granted to certain wholly owned subsidiaries.
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The Company is firmly committed to maintaining statutory and regulatory
standards and adherence to the principles of corporate governance
emphasising transparency, independence, accountability, responsibility and
fairness. The Board ensures that effective self-regulatory practices exist to
protect the interests of the shareholders of the Company.

The Company has applied the principles and complied with all the code
provisions as set out in the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the
“Code") contained in Appendix 15 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Growth Enterprises Market of the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “GEM Listing Rules”) throughout the year ended 31 March
2008, save for the deviations discussed below.

Under the code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separate and should not be performed by
the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the chairman
and chief executive officer should be clearly established and set out in writing.

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent is both the chairman and chief executive officer
of the Company who is responsible for managing the Board and the Group’s
business. Mr. Lau has been both chairman and chief executive officer of the
Company since its incorporation. The Board considers that, with the present
board structure and scope of business of the Group, there is no imminent
need to separate the roles into two individuals as Mr. Lau is perfectly capable
of distinguishing the priority of these roles in which he has been acting.
However, the Board will continue to review the effectiveness of the Group's
corporate governance structure to assess whether the separation of the
positions of chairman and chief executive officer is necessary.

Under the code provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive Directors should
be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. Under the code
provision A.4.2 stipulates that all Directors appointed to fill a causal vacancy
should be subject to election by shareholders at the first general meeting
after their appointment, and every Director, including those appointed for
a specific term, should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years.

Under the present articles of association of the Company, Mr. Lau Hon
Kwong Vincent, being chairman and chief executive officer of the Company,
is not subject to retirement by rotation. This is not in compliance with the
Code requirement that every Director must retire by rotation once every
three years.
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Besides, the non-executive Directors do not have a specific term of
appointment, but are subject to rotation in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company (that at each annual general meeting, one-
third of the Directors for the time being or, if their number is not a multiple
of three, the number nearest to but not greater than one-third, shall retire
from office) provided that notwithstanding anything herein, the chairman
of the Board and/or the managing director of the Company shall not, whilst
holding such office, be subject to retirement by rotation or be taken into
account in determining the number of Directors to retire in each year. At
such, with the exception of the chairman, all Directors are subject to
retirement by rotation. The management considered that there is no
imminent need to amend the articles of association of the Company.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions on terms no less exacting than the required standard of dealings
as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules throughout the
year ended 31 March 2008. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors,
the Directors have complied with such code of conduct and the required
standard of dealings throughout the year ended 31 March 2008.

Board of Directors and Board Meeting

The Board which currently comprises four executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors, is responsible for the overall strategic
planning and business development of the Group. Details of the Directors
are set in the section “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of this report. All Directors give sufficient time and attention
to the affairs of the Group. To the best knowledge of the Board, there is no
financial, business and family relationship among the members of the Board
except that Mr. Liu Hoi Wah is the younger brother of Mr. Lau Hon Kwong,
Vincent.

All independent non-executive Directors, do not have any business or
significant financial interests with the Group and each of them have
confirmed their independence to the Group pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the
GEM Listing Rules. No independent non-executive Director has served the
Group for more than nine years. Based on the above-mentioned, the Board
considers that all independent non-executive Directors were independent.

With the various experience of both the executive Directors and the
independent non-executive Directors and the nature of the Group’s business,
the Board considers that the Directors have a balance of skills and experience
for the business of the Group.
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The Board meets regularly at least four times a year at approximately quarterly
intervals. Such regular meetings will normally involve the active participation,
either in person or through other electronic means of communication, of a
majority of Directors entitled to be present.

During the year ended 31 March 2008, four board meetings were held and
the following is an attendance record of the meetings by each Director.

Attendance
Executive Directors
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent 4/4
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung 4/4
Mr. George Roger Manho 3/4
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah 2/4
Independent non-executive Directors
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen 4/4
Mr. Tang Siu, Henry 4/4
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony 4/4

During regular meetings of the Board, the Directors discuss and formulate
the overall strategies of the Group, monitor financial performances and
discuss the annual, interim and quarterly results, as well as discuss and
decide on other significant matters. Execution of daily operational matters
is delegated to management.

Notice of regular board meeting is usually given at least 14 days in advances
to give all Directors an opportunity to attend. An agenda for each board
meeting will be prepared and normally distributed to the Directors together
with necessary board papers and related materials at least four days before
the board meeting. Directors are free to add any items on the agenda as
they may think fit. The Company Secretary is responsible for recording the
matters considered and decisions reached by the Board including any
concerns or dissenting views raised by Directors. Minutes of board meetings
and the board committees meetings will be sent to all Directors for their
comments and records as soon as after the board meeting.

Minutes of board meetings and board committees meetings are kept by
the Company Secretary and such minutes are open for inspection within
reasonable advance notice.

All Directors have access to relevant and timely information, and they can
ask for further information or retain independent professional advisors if
necessary. They also have unrestricted access to the advice and service of
the Company Secretary, who is responsible for providing Directors with board
papers and related materials and ensuring that board procedures are
followed.
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Should a potential conflict of interest involving a substantial shareholder or
Director arise, the matter is discussed in an actual meeting, as opposed to
being dealt with by written resolution. Independent non-executive Directors
with no conflict of interest are present at meetings dealing with conflict
issues. Board committees, including the Audit, Remuneration and
Nomination Committees, all follow the applicable practices and procedures
used in board meetings for committee meetings.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer
should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual.
The Company did not segregate the roles of the chairman and chief executive
officer. The role of the chief executive was performed by Mr. Lau Hon Kwong,
Vincent, who was the then existing chairman of the Company during the
year under review. Apart from the reason of such deviation mentioned above,
the Board also believes that vesting the roles of both chairman and chief
executive officer in the same person provides the Company with strong
and consistent leadership, and allows for effective and efficient planning
and implementation of business decisions and strategies.

The Board will periodically review the merits and demerits of such
management structure and will adopt such appropriate measures as may
be necessary in the future taking into consideration of the nature and extent
of the Group’s operation.

Audit Committee

As required by Rules 5.28 to 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company
has established an audit committee which comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen, Mr. Tang Siu, Henry and
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony. Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen was appointed as
chairman of the audit committee.

The primary duties of the audit committee are to review the Company’s
annual report and accounts, half-yearly report and quarterly reports and to
provide advices and comments thereon to the Board. The audit committee
meets at least four times a year with management to review the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and to discuss auditing,
internal control and financial reporting matters. The principal terms of
reference includes, inter alia, its relationship with the Company’s external
auditor, review of the Company’s financial information and oversight of the
financial reporting system and internal control procedures of the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2008, four audit committee meetings
were held and the following is an attendance record of the meetings by
each Director.
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Attendance
Name of Directors
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen 4/4
Mr. Tang Siu, Henry 4/4
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony 4/4

The Group’s financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2008 have
been reviewed by the audit committee, who is of the opinion that such
statements comply with the applicable accounting standards, the GEM
Listing Rules and legal requirements, and that adequate disclosures had
been made.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established a remuneration committee on 1 August 2005
with written terms of reference in compliance with the Code. The roles and
functions of the remuneration committee include the determination of the
specific remuneration packages of all executive Directors and senior
management of the Company, including benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments, such as any compensation payable for loss or
termination of their office or appointment, and make recommendations to
the Board of the remuneration of non-executive Directors. Members of the
remuneration committee include Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen, Mr. Tang Siu, Henry,
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony and Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, with Dr. Lee
Peng Fei, Allen as chairman. A majority of the votes in the remuneration
committee are exercisable by independent non-executive Directors. No
Director will be involved in any discussion in connection with his own
remuneration.

The remuneration committee schedules meet at least once a year. During
the year, one remuneration committee meeting was held to review the
remuneration packages of executive Directors and the directors’ fees of the
independent non-executive Directors and all members attended.

Nomination Committee

The Company established a nomination committee on 8 December 2005
with written terms of reference in compliance with the Code. Members of
the nomination committee include Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen, Mr. Tang Siu,
Henry, Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony and Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, with
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen as chairman.

The nomination committee shall meet before the annual general meeting

of the Company, or at other times as required by the chairman of the
nomination committee.
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The roles and functions of the nomination committee include the
appointment and removal of Directors, reviews the background, experience,
qualification, general market conditions and the Company’s articles of
association in selecting and recommending candidates for directorship.

The nomination committee schedules meet at least once a year. One
nomination committee meeting was held during the year and all members
attended. During the meeting, members considered and resolved that all
the existing Directors shall be recommended to be retained by the Company.
Further, Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen and Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony will retire
from the Board in accordance with Article 108 of the Company’s articles of
association at the forthcoming annual general meeting, and, being eligible,
will offer themselves for re-election.

Directors’ and Auditors’ Responsibilities for the
Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparation of the
financial statements of the Group and ensure that the financial statements
are in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. The Directors also ensure the timely publication of the financial
statements of the Group.

The statements of external auditors of the Company, Baker Tilly Hong Kong
Limited, about their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of
the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor's Report on pages 33 to 34
of this annual report.

Internal Control

The Company has conducted a review of its system of internal control
periodically to ensure the effective and adequate internal control system.
The Company convened meeting periodically to discuss financial, operational
and risk management control. The Directors are of the view that the existing
system of internal control is effective and adequate to the Group.

External Auditors

The audit committee is responsible for considering the appointment of the
external auditors and reviewing any non-audit functions performed by the
external auditors of the Group. In particular, the audit committee will
consider, in advance of them being contracted for such service, whether
such non-audit service could lead to any potential material conflict of interest.
Nothing has come to its attention to cause the audit committee to believe
that the non-audit services provided by the external auditors affect their
independence, objectivity and effectiveness in the audit process in
accordance with applicable standard.
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For the year ended 31 March 2008, the fee payable to the auditors in respect
of audit services amounted to HK$380,000 while the fee payable to the
auditors in respect of non-audit services relating to the taxation amounted
to HK$28,000.

Communication with Shareholders

The Board is committed to maintaining an ongoing and transparent
communication with all shareholders. The Directors host annual general
meeting each year to meet the shareholders and answer their enquiries.
The Company uses various communication channels, such as publication of
annual and quarterly reports, press announcements and circulars, to update
the shareholders on the Group’s business developments and financial
performance. Such information is also available on the Company’s website:
http://www.hkite.com.
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Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, aged 44, is an Executive Director, Chief
Executive Officer and one of the founders of the Group. He is responsible
for overall strategic planning and management of the Group. With over 21
years of experience in the executive management, Mr. Lau was engaged in
China trade before founding the Group. He graduated from The University
of Hong Kong with a first class honours Degree of Bachelor of Science in
Mechanical Engineering.

Mr. George Roger Manho, aged 45, is an Executive Director and one of
the founders of the Group. Mr. Manho has 20 years of experience in the
control and automation industries, electrical and mechanical projects and
engineering management. He is a Chartered Engineer and a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Engineers, The Institute of Marine Engineers
and The Hong Kong Institute of Marine Technology and the Institution of
Fire Engineers. He holds a Master degree in Engineering Studies in
Mechanical Engineering from the University of Sydney and a Bachelor of
Science (Engineering) degree with first class honours in Marine Engineering
from the University of Newcastle Upon Tyne.

Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung, aged 45, is an Executive Director and one of the
founders of the Group. He is responsible for technical management and
research and development (R&D). With 24 years of experience in R&D and
production management, Mr. Cheng won the awards of the Hong Kong
Awards for Industry for seven times (two Machinery and Equipment Design
in 2005 and 2007, one Consumer Product Design in each of 1993, 2000
and 2001 and two Designs in 1997). He holds a Higher Diploma in Electronics
Engineering from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

Mr. Liu Hoi Wah, aged 39, is an Executive Director and Chief Finance
Officer of the Group. He is responsible for financial management, accounting
and corporate development. He joined the Group in March 2000. Mr. Liu
graduated from The London School of Economics and Political Science of
the University of London with a Bachelor of Science degree, first class honours
in Management Sciences. He is an associate member of each of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales (“ICAEW") and the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™). Mr. Liu is the
younger brother of Mr. H.K. Lau.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen, CBE, BS, FHKIE, JP, aged 68, holds an honorary doctoral
degree in engineering from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University and an
honorary doctoral in laws from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. He
was formerly a member of the Hong Kong Legislative Council from 1978 to
1997 and a senior member of the Hong Kong Legislative Council from
1988 to 1991. Dr. Lee was also a member of the Hong Kong Executive
Council from 1985 to 1992. He was appointed as the Company’s
independent non-executive director in December 2000.

Mr. Tang Siu, Henry, QFsM, CPM, aged 63, is currently a Registered Chinese
Medicine Practitioner (Full Subjects), a director of a private company, the
Principal Consultant of Hong Kong Fire Services Staff General Association,
the Life and First President of the Hong Kong Professional Institute of Chinese
Medicine Medicated Meal & Food, a Consultant & life member of Hong
Kong Registered Chinese Medicine Practitioners Association, the Deputy
Commissioner of the Friends of Scouting and a member of the Chartered
Institute of Arbitrators (East Asia Branch). Mr. Tang was Chief Fire Officer
Hong Kong Fire Command from 1993 to 2000. He holds a Master Degree
of Science (Major in Urban Planning), a Bachelor Degree of Law (Hons) and
a Fellow of the Faculty of Law of University of Wolverhampton the United
Kingdom. He was appointed as the Company’s independent non-executive
director on 5 September 2005.

Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony, aged 42, is the proprietor of a Certified
Public Accountant firm in Hong Kong. Mr. Kam holds a Bachelor of Laws
degree from the University of Wolverhampton, the United Kingdom, and a
Bachelor of Science degree from the University of Hong Kong. Mr. Kam is a
fellow member of the HKICPA, a fellow member of Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants (“ACCA"), an associate member of ICAEW and an
affiliate member of the Hong Kong Securities Institute. Besides, Mr. Kam is
also a member of Task Group in the HKICPA. Mr. Kam has over 19 years
experience in auditing, accounting and tax matters, both in private and
public companies. He was appointed as the Company’s independent non-
executive director on 30 September 2004.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management EER SR EEEEBE

Senior Management

Mr. Yuk Wai Kwok, Simon, aged 43, is an associated director (Marketing
and Sales) of the Group. Mr. Yuk is responsible for business development,
sales and marketing of the Group. He is also in charge of the development
of business co-operation arrangement with vendor and partners in Hong
Kong, PRC, Macau and other overseas market. With 17 years of experience
in project management of IT industry, Mr. Yuk has been involved in the
sales and tendering process for several sizeable IT projects. He was a project
manager of a computer company for 10 years before joining the Group in
December 1999.

Mr. But Wui Fai, Cyrus, aged 40, is an associated director (Project and
Sales) of the Group. Mr. But is responsible for management of project
commissioning of the Group. With 17 years of experience in IT and RFID
industry on project management, systems design and implementation. Mr.
But had achieved numerous project assignments in government sectors,
public utilities, tertiary institutions and public listed companies. He worked
for 10 years in an IT consultancy company in Hong Kong before joining the
Group in September 2001.

Miss. Yeung Yuen Chun, Mona, aged 34, is the Financial Controller and
associated director of the Group. Miss Yeung is responsible for managing
the Group’s finance and accounting operations, performing statutory and
management reporting. Miss. Yeung has over 11 years in auditing,
accounting and financial analysis. She is an associate member of the HKICPA
and ICAEW and a fellow member of the ACCA. She graduated from the
Hong Kong Baptist University.

Mr. Lam Kwai Sum, aged 42, is the Senior Project Manager of the Group.
Mr. Lam is responsible for project management, implementation and
maintenance services. With 21 years’ depth knowledge and experience in
project engineering including 11 years in the design, coordination, site
supervision, testing and commissioning in building services and 10 years of
project design and management, tendering and supervision of electrical
installation systems. He joins the Group in August 2001 and has been
involved in several sizeable installation projects in Hong Kong and Macau
including government sectors, public sectors, campus and estates.

Mr. Luk Wai Suen, aged 59, is a Senior Consultant of the Group. Mr. Luk
is responsible for advising the system development for new product
development and the design of software system. With 27 years of experience
in R & D of system networking, Mr. Luk was the deputy chief engineer of an
electronics company for 14 years before joining the Group in April 2000.
He holds a degree in Computer Application from The Shanghai Institute of
Education.
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The Directors have pleasure in submitting their annual report together with
the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2008.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the company is investment holding. The principal
activities and other particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in note 15 to
the financial statements.

The analysis of the principal activities and geographical locations of the
operations of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) during the
financial year are set out in note 12 to the financial statements.

Major Customers and Suppliers
The information in respect of the Group’s turnover and purchases attributable

to the major customers and suppliers respectively during the financial year

is as follows:

EZgo AMARZEE_ZTTN\F=A=1+—HIFEL
ERIHERE -

-3
AARMEBEHRAREER - AHBEDAMEBEBHE

BN BT RAR KRS

ARARANBAR (AEE) RARRFEHEELHR
BRI ST MR REMIFE2 -

FEFFRHEER

REBBFEEAR - ARETRRFEIGEERREREREN
RERABOT

Percentage of group total

hEEAEER DL
Turnover Purchases
= 2 EREERE
The largest customer BARF 53% -
Five largest customers in aggregate hAREP#ET 77% =
The largest supplier SAHER = 15%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate AR AT - 41%

At no time during the year have the Directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns
more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any interest in these
major customers and suppliers.
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Financial Statements

The profit of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2008 and the state of
the Company’s and the Group’s affairs as at that date are set out in the
financial statements on pages 35 to 93.

Transfer to Reserves

Profits attributable to shareholders, before dividends, of HK$1,085,610
(2007: HK$957,426) have been transferred to reserves. Other movements
in reserves are set out in note 28 to the financial statements.

No interim dividend was paid during the year (2007: HK$Nil). The Directors
do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31
March 2008 (2007: HK$Nil).

There is no arrangement under which a shareholder of the Company has
waived or agreed to waive any dividends.

Charitable Donations

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
HK$3,800 (2007: HK$5,000).

Fixed Assets

Details of the movements in fixed assets of the Group are set out in note 13
to the financial statements.

Share Capital

Details of the share capital of the Company during the year are set out in
note 28 to the financial statements.

Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles
of association and there was no restriction against such rights under the
laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.
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Directors
The Directors during the financial year were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung

Mr. George Roger Manho
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah

Independent non-executive Directors
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen

Mr. Tang Siu, Henry

Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony

In accordance with Article 108 of the Company’s articles of association, Dr.
Lee Peng Fei, Allen and Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony retire from the board
by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible,
will offer themselves for re-election.

Directors’ Service Contracts

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung and Mr. Liu Hoi Wah
have entered into service contracts with the Company on 1 April 2008 for
an initial fixed term of one year commencing from 1 April 2008 which will
continue thereafter until terminated by three months notice in writing served
by either party on the other.

Mr. George Roger Manho has entered into a service contract with the
Company on 30 December 2007 for an initial fixed term of one year
commencing from 1 January 2008 which will continue thereafter until
terminated by three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the
other.

Except for the above, none of the Directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract which is not
determinable by the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, within one year
without payment of compensation, other than normal statutory obligations.
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Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures

As at 31 March 2008, the interests and short positions of each Director and
chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")),
which were notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO, including any interests and short positions which they have
taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the SFO, or which
were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to Rules 5.46
to 5.68 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Growth
Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”), to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:
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EERTHRARRES - HERORESK
KR H R

RZZZENF=ZA=+—H ' RAASESZRITHAHIRE
BH RIS IEGIS15.7 % E15.81EMRTE - AARHEEM
HEEE (EER(EHRAEGKRLD (FHHEAD E+R
) - BANEARRRBEBMERSIAAERAR ([R5
Frl) H9R1n - 1ERARR 1D R EH F A R SUA R (BIER
BFEBGRAIMZ SR ERRRIRERENEEIAR) -
SN BHI AR IR B HEHISB352 18 F AT ER B MR - 3k
BIREZ %FJ’T(@J%W % EmARRD (TAIZER EmRaID &

5.46%5.68{RFTH AR AN B S ANA 7] R R 5 PR i ok
HKEEIIWT

(i) Interests in shares of the Company (i) RA TR D R
Number of ordinary shares
EERRE
Percentage
of issued
Personal Corporate Family Other share capital
Name of director interests interests interests interests Total HEET
EEde EAER hEER Rk HiE it BRAEBAL
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent - 456,250,348 (L) - - 456,250,348 (L) 50.27%
E) Y it (Note 2) (F5£2)
Mr. George Roger Manho 83,142,254 (L) - - - 83,142,254 (L) 9.16%
BEELE
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung - 456,250,348 (L) - - 456,250,348 (L) 50.27%
BB (Note 2) (Fir&F2)
Notes: FitEE -
1. The letter “L” denotes a long position in the shares. 1. Ll FRRRDBIRE -
2. These shares are beneficially owned by Rax-Comm (BVI) Limited (“Rax- 2. SRR T — R R R BB LB E A S B A A]Rax-

Comm™), a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. Mr. Lau
Hon Kwong, Vincent and Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung held 46.21% and
36.11% of the entire issued share capital of Rax-Comm, respectively.

Comm (BVI) Limited ("Rax-Comm") Fi#5H ° 2%
e 5e A N BB B S A 95 Bl A Rax-Comm 46.21%
%3611 %M B BTG °
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Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and ZEZERITBEAZRNKRS - HERORESFR
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and %Az (&)
Debentures (continued)

(i)  Interests in equity derivatives, as defined in the SFO, in (i) RIEERZEHEROITETANER (E

or in respect of, underlying shares = REHERG)

As at 31 March 2008, the Directors had the following personal REZZZNF=A=1+—H ' AAREBERER
interests in options to subscribe for shares of the Company granted N RIFERRIEETEI LA 1B ST A (B % AT SR BB AR A IR
at HK$1 under a share option scheme of the Company. Each option DEERERES A TR E AR - FRERER]

gives the holder the right to subscribe for one share.

ERAARB R -

Number of Price per
Number shares acquired share to be
of options on exercise of paid on
outstanding options during exercise of
at 31 March 2008 the year options
RZBENE Period during £R L
=A=t-H which options TERRE BRRE
Name of director HRITHER Date granted exercisable maRHEH AXH
ESpE BREHR RIAH BREFER BH#E BRER
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent 6,109,440 (L) 12 February 2001 21 August 2001 to 11 February 2011 - HK$0.095
AER £k S S “2F-FN\A-t-HZ 0.0957C
“2—%-At-A
Mr. George Roger Manho 4,000,000 (L) 12 February 2001 21 August 2001 to 11 February 2011 - HK$0.095
BEERE “E2-£-At-A 22 E\A-t-HZ 0.09587
“Z—%"A+—H
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung 4,000,000 (L) 12 February 2001 21 August 2001 to 11 February 2011 - HK$0.095
gL Sy “Z2-E\f-t-RHZE 0.095%7
“2—%_f+-R
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah 19,112,640 (1) 12 February 2001 21 August 2001 to 11 February 2011 - HK$0.095
qsELE ZEE-F-A1ZA “2R-FN\AZt-HZ 0.0957C
“2—%-At-A
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen 1,760,000 (L) 12 February 2001 21 August 2001 to 11 February 2011 - HK$0.095
FEREL i = 22 E\A-t-HZ 0.095% 7
“Z—%"A+—H

Note:  The letter “L"” denotes a long position in the shares.
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Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures (continued)

(iii)  Aggregate interest in the shares and underlying shares
of the Company

Directors' Report EEE&;RE

EERITHARREKRS - HERORESK
KBRS ()

(i) ADFRHORAEBERDVETHER

Percentage to the

Aggregate Aggregate issued share
number in number in capital of
ordinary underlying the Company
Name of director shares shares Total EARAT] BT
EEfE ZERAST TERARR 7 AR 5t &&t BRARME DL
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent 456,250,348 (L) 6,109,440 (L) 462,359,788 (L) 50.95%
B s
Mr. George Roger Manho 83,142,254 (L) 4,000,000 (L) 87,142,254 (L) 9.60%
BEM L
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung 456,250,348 (L) 4,000,000 (L) 460,250,348 (L) 50.71%
BB 1 S A
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah - 19,112,640 (L) 19,112,640 (L) 2.11%
2FEL A
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen - 1,760,000 (L) 1,760,000 (L) 0.19%
SR E LT

Note:  The letter “L"” denotes a long position in the shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2008, none of the Directors, chief
executive of the Company or their associates had any interests in the shares
or debentures of, or short positions in the shares of, the Company or any of
its associated corporations, within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO, which
would have to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, including interests or short
positions which they have taken or deemed to have taken under such
provisions of the SFO, or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of
the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which were
required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.68 of the GEM Listing Rules, were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

M [LUFRRROBER -

B EMAEEIN R_ZTBNF=A=+—H BF 17
BB E R OB A TR RS AR5 15.7 15,814
RARBSHEAEMEEEE (EF R ERIEOISE+ 0 #E
R HESERIAR (BIEREEBIRDINZFRER
RBRTRIEFEBNRRIORR) - BT ARIEE B EP]
FEIS2ETUFEMNECMA - HRIRAIZR LR RIS
5.46Z5 681RFTEN AR Al MR MG AR B} 32 5 AT (AT 4
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Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Rights to Acquire
Shares or Debt Securities

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s
interests and short positions in shares, underlying shares and debentures”,
as at 31 March 2008, neither the Company, holding company nor any of its
subsidiaries was a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors and
chief executive of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debt securities, including debentures, of the
Company or any other body corporate, and none of the Directors and chief
executive of the Company or their spouses or children under the age of 18,
had any right to subscribe for the securities of the Company, or had exercised
any such rights.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short
Positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares

The register of substantial shareholders maintained under Section 336 of
the SFO shows that as at 31 March 2008, the Company had been notified
of the following interests, being 5% or more of the issued share capital of
the Company:

ESERTRARBEROIERESNVETR

BRIA B3t [T 5 RITBUABE B D *Hﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬁ&ﬁ%%&iﬁﬁ
Mg AEIN  R_FETNF=ZA=1+—H &R
PR A RS EAEAME R R ES TR L - AR

= MITRAHAEERAAR ﬂ%&fﬂﬁ@;ﬁ/\@azﬂ%%ﬁ
SEBES (BHRES) MERHE  MARRESRITHE
BRI S VR B SR RIRR +/\ B A F AT A] SR AN
RAEIFHRER] - IMEITEE MR TR -

EFRRRRKRG - HEARG KA NEDS

3

RATRBEREOIEICHEEEEN I ERFERMA
BE R-BENFZA=+—B  UTREAERATE
BTIRAS %A L A ¢

Percentage
of total
Ordinary issued shares
shares held HEBITRG
FEERRE aitES
Rax-Comm (BVI) Limited (Note 1) Rax-Comm (BVI) Limited (Ff{E1) 456,250,348 50.27%
Mr. George Roger Manho (Note 2) B E 5 5 & (fifEE2) 83,142,254 9.16%
Notes: FitsE -
1. These shares have been disclosed as the corporate interests of the relevant Directors 1. ZERMER [EE RITEAERNIRG - BERG REHF R
in the section headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short positions KEEERE | —BREREAEENEEER o
in shares, underlying shares and debentures”.
2. These shares have been disclosed as the personal interests of the Director in the 2. ZERMER [EE RITEAENIRGD - BERG REHF R

section headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short positions in

shares, underlying shares and debentures”.
Share Option Schemes

Details of the Company’s share option schemes are set out in note 27 to
the financial statements.
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Purchase, Sale and Redemption of Shares of the
Company

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s shares during the year.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts

No contract of significance to which the Company, its holding company or
any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director of the Company
had a material interest, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.

Bank Loans and Other Borrowings

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Company and the
Group as at 31 March 2008 are set out in note 24 to the financial statements.

Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into
or in existence during the year.

Connected Transactions

There were no transactions which should be disclosed in the annual report
as connected transactions in accordance with the requirements of the GEM
Listing Rules.

Five Year Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 94 of the annual report.

Retirement Schemes

Particulars of the retirement schemes of the Group are set out in note 26 to
the financial statements.

Confirmation of Independence

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 5.09
of the GEM Listing Rules and considers all the independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

Directors' Report EEE&;RE

BO - HERBEEARQTRSE

AAREEMBRRNAFEARERELD - HEXBEAR
R EIRAD ©

EEEANTREENESR

ARF - HBRA RSN BA RL W L EAAAF
EFHAEAES - ARFRABRFENEABBINERNE
REH «

RTERREMEE

KRB RAEER _ZENF= A=+ —HNRTEFRE
B EFERN R 24 o

EEEAHN

FABERI LGB AR B2 E M E 250 5K
EERITHEL °

BERXS

FAWE AR ZAERBRIFR LR R ERNFER EH
BREERS -

AFEHE

AREBREDFHNFEEANEELBERZHNFRFMA

RKETE

AR B O R KR BRI R M 75 ¥R M 7526

B ERE

ARAREBSE B I TEERAIFER ETARRIFE5.091%
FREERELBIIG  ARMEBLIFNTETTEVAE -

31



Directors' Report EEE K&

Auditors

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited were first appointed as auditors of the
Company in 2007 upon the retirement of RSM Nelson Wheeler. Baker Tilly
Hong Kong Limited retire and, being eligible offer themselves for re-
appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of Baker Tilly Hong Kong
Limited as auditors of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming

annual general meeting.
By order of the board of Directors

Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 June 2008
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Independent Auditor's Report %37 #% ZIER 3R &

-

BAKER TILLY

HONG KONG LIMITED

B RIE G aIEB T A PR A
12/F., China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre,
168-200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong

FW T EF168-200%
EEPLEERKRKE2®

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
ITE (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of ITE (Holdings)
Limited (the “company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “group”) set out on pages 35 to 93, which comprise the consolidated
and company balance sheets as at 31 March 2008, and the consolidated
income statement, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial
statements

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and
the true and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing, implementing and
maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and the true
and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying
appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that
are reasonable in the circumstances.

#%ITE (HOLDINGS) LIMITED® k%
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Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you, as a body,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the HKICPA. Those standards require that we comply
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance as to whether the financial statements are free
from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and true
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the group as at
31 March 2008 and of the group’s profit and cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with HKFRSs and have been properly prepared
in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 25 June 2008

Lo Wing See
Practising certificate number P04607
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Consolidated Income Statement 448 Uk 3«
BRE—BEN\E=H=T—HILFE GABTIE)

For the year ended 31 March 2008 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2008 —EENEF 2007 —ZT+4&F

Note _ _
B $ T $ 7T

Turnover =E 2] 4,12 77,492,591 66,829,725
Cost of services rendered B R RIS EV B (61,145,217) (53,197,409)
Cost of sales EEEWRIBA (2,159,572) (1,959,545)
Gross profit ER 14,187,802 11,672,771
Other income E bl A 5 808,516 880,393
Administrative expenses THEA (12,591,780) (11,760,931)
Profit from operations R 2,404,538 792,233
Finance costs & A 6(a) (1,200,913) (1,440,191)
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale HERHEESH

financial assets & EWE - 1,825,850
Profit before taxation BRBE AR T 6 1,203,625 1,177,892
Income tax FiiS#i 7(a) (118,015) (220,466)
Profit for the year and attributable to 72 G R RE(

shareholders of the company FREFA 10 1,085,610 957,426
Earnings per share BREF 11
Basic AR 0.12 cents 1l 0.11 cents 1lli
Diluted BE 0.12 cents 1l N/A i

The notes on pages 41 to 93 form part of these financial statements. N EA B R FE3E MM RAK UL FIERRE—FH -
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Consolidated Balance Sheet %7
At 31 March 2008 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

A
(=W=1

RZEZNF=HA=+—H GAETIIE)

2008 —ZZF/\F 2007 ZZEZ+F
Note _ _
B $ T $ T
Non-current assets RBEE
Fixed assets EE&E 13 659,642 792,989
Available-for-sale financial assets AEEEeREE 16 1,653,600 1,487,900
2,313,242 2,280,889
Current assets REEE
Financial assets at fair value through BATEES AER
profit or loss SRNEE - 12,160
Inventories FE 17 1,698,968 1,925,184
Trade and other receivables FEWE 5 I E At FE YR X 18 10,894,506 9,298,504
Deposits and prepayments e RFHER 20 1,010,405 1,297,200
Income tax recoverable A Ug Bl TS HR 21(a) 95,979 200,410
Pledged bank deposits BEHEARITER 22 16,773,222 15,806,889
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEED 22 916,755 1,900,901
31,389,835 30,441,248
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables FEFTE 5 R H Ab FERTIR R 23 12,305,468 14,647,115
Short-term borrowings MEEE 24 10,755,714 8,929,404
23,061,182 23,576,519
Net current assets RBEEFE 8,328,653 6,864,729
Net assets EEFE 10,641,895 9,145,618
Capital and reserves EAXR#E
Share capital [N 28(a) 9,075,360 9,075,360
Reserves R 28(b) 1,566,535 70,258
Total equity MR 10,641,895 9,145,618

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 25 June

EEER_ZTN\FARAAZTHBZAEREERE -

2008.
Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent Cheng Kwok Hung 2ER B0 2
Director Director BF F

The notes on pages 41 to 93 form part of these financial statements. R EA B EF3E MM RAR L E SRR —FFH
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At 31 March 2008 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

£ ITE (Holdings) Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2007-2008 4F 3§

Balance Sheet EE& &%

K2 \F=H=1— B8 GLBsIE)

2008 —ZZF/\F 2007 —ZEEH4F

Note _ _

B $ T $ T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries B ARIEE 15 4,000,000 4,000,000
Current assets REEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUCHT B A AR X 15 4,172,843 4,023,505
Other receivables H At fE IR X 18 142,340 140,288
Cash and cash equivalents ReRReEED 22 157 1,187

4,315,340 4,164,980

Current liabilities REBAE
Accrued charges and other payables FEET 2 A I EL A FE TR AR 23 716,017 678,474
Net current assets REEEFE 3,599,323 3,486,506
Net assets EEFE 7,599,323 7,486,506
Capital and reserves EAXR#EE
Share capital [N 28(a) 9,075,360 9,075,360
Reserves i 28(b) (1,476,037) (1,588,854)
Total equity Mg 7,599,323 7,486,506

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 25 June

2008.

Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent
Director

Cheng Kwok Hung
Director

The notes on pages 41 to 93 form part of these financial statements.

EFeRN T N\FAAZ TR BZAEREETE -
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity fZ2 &= 8K

For the year ended 31 March 2008 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_ZTT\F=ZA=T—HLEFE CAETIIE

Investment
Share Share Merger  Exchange revaluation Accumulated
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total
MEER  REME
KA RGEE ARG 1] wE  R2RER EH
$TC $ T $ T \ $TC $TT $TT
Balance at 1 April 2006 RZEZNENA—A&H 9,075,360 22,816,249 10,748,910 59,317 (105,536) (34,567,740) 8,026,560
Exchange difference arising RGN EBHEE
on translation of foreign MERZR
operation - - - 127,596 - - 127,596
Increase in fair value of A ES AR
available-for-sale MATEEEN
financial assets - - - - 34,036 - 34,036
Net income recognised directly FME# B & R
in equity WAFE - - - 127,596 34,036 - 161,632
Profit for the year ERER - - - - - 957,426 957,426
Total recognised income and ~~ FREERUAK
expense for the year Suf it - - - 127,596 34,036 957,426 1,119,058
Balance at 31 March 2007 RZEZ+tF=A=t-HR
and 1 April 2007 “TTLFNA-AEH 9,075,360 22,816,249 10,748,910 186,913 (71,500) (33,610,314) 9,145,618
Exchange difference arising RGN EBHEE
on translation of foreign MERZR
operation - - - 244,967 - - 244,967
Increase in fair value of A ESRHERE
available-for-sale MATEEEN
financial assets - - - - 165,700 - 165,700
Net income recognised directly FE# B & R
in equity WAFE - - - 244967 165,700 - 410,667
Profit for the year ENER - - - - - 1,085610 1,085,610
Total recognised income and ~~ FREERUAK
expense for the year X - - - 244967 165700 1085610 1496277
Balance at 31 March 2008 RZZEZNFZA=+—B&H 9075360 22,816,249 10,748,910 431,880 94,200 (32,524,704) 10,641,895
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement &R EHRE R

For the year ended 31 March 2008 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_ZTT\FZA=T—HLEFE CAETIIE

2008 —ZF\F 2007 —TTLHF
$ T $ 7T
Cash flows from operating activities EEXBERESFHE
Profit before taxation R 5% A A 1,203,625 1,177,892
Adjustments for: B RFSIBEL A%
Depreciation e 293,619 338,528
Write-down of inventories FEHE 258,197 25,147
Loss/(gain) on disposal of fixed assets HERBEFEEERE (W) 1,294 (1,025)
Impairment loss on available-for-sale AL ESREERN
financial assets RIEEE - 62,100
Impairment loss on other receivables H A fE YR RO R (B 5 18 - 353,733
Gain on disposal of financial assets HERATEET AER
at fair value through profit or loss BELE ER (26,026) (666)
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale HERHEECHEE
financial assets EOPlEa - (1,825,850)
Dividend income from financial assets RAFEEAERESH
at fair value through profit or loss BERRSMA - (240)
Investment income from available-for-sale BJftHE&E SR EE
financial assets BV E WA (24,960) (24,960)
Interest income M EHA (503,208) (504,631)
Interest expenses FIEZH 1,200,913 1,440,191
Operating profit before changes REEELBEATNLEET
in working capital 2,403,454 1,040,219
Increase in inventories FEE (31,981) (18,135)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and JE UK B 5 Ko EL Ath FE LRI X
other receivables (g w L (1,596,002) 172,923
Decrease/(increase) in deposits and SERFHERRL,
prepayments (3%70) 286,795 (614,922)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and FERTE 5 R E A FERTIR X
other payables ORl A /3 (1,692,931) 2,307,004
Cash (used in)/generated from 3% () EE
operations e (630,665) 2,887,089
Interest paid =ENEIESS (1,200,913) (1,440,191)
Tax refund REIFK 191,543 =
Tax paid AL TEN (205,127) (428,953)
Net cash (used in)/generated from B (FrH)
operating activities EXBRSEE (1,845,162) 1,017,945
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement ZR&BEHREBR
For the year ended 31 March 2008 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_ZTT\F=ZA=T—HLEFE CAETIIE

2008 —EENEF 2007 — T4

Note _ _
B $ T $ 7T

Cash flows from investing activities RETEREESHRE
Purchase of fixed assets BERETEE (159,780) (771,998)
Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets & EE B ERFTS 5RIE - 3,200
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets &L AFEE AR

at fair value through profit or loss TREBENMEIE 38,186 10,766
Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale & Al {ft H &4 &l EEH

financial assets Fr{S5/18 - 3,900,000
Investment income from available-for-sale  AIftHE S FE EH

financial assets FEWAN 24,960 24,960
Dividend received from financial assets BEATEBEFABZSH

at fair value through profit or loss EERRBIA - 240
Interest received BHF S 503,208 504,631
Net cash generated from investing RETHELRSE

activities HE 406,574 3,671,799
Cash flows from financing activities REEERSRE
Increase in pledged bank deposits BRI EFIE N (966,333) (482,892)
Increase in bank loans, net RITIEEIE N OFE) 306,048 752,680
Repayment of other borrowings EREMEES (648,716) (326,133)
Net cash used in financing activities BMEEEMARSEE (1,309,001) (56,345)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and BeRRSEEY RD)

cash equivalents 3 (2,747,589) 4,633,399
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April REA—BHNREREESZEY (878,814) (5,577,017)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes  [EXRE&Hz & 243,181 64,804
Cash and cash equivalents R=ZA=+—HHNRER

at 31 March REZEEY 22 (3,383,222) (878,814)

The notes on pages 41 to 93 form part of these financial statements. R EA B EF3E MM RAR L E SRR —FFH
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf#3R &R Mz

General information

The company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law
of the Cayman Islands. The company is domiciled in the Cayman
Islands. Its registered office is situated at Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, PO. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.
The principal place of business of its operating subsidiaries is Units
1005-07, Level 10, Manulife Provident Funds Place, 345 Nathan
Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The company’s shares are listed on
the Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 15 to the financial
statements.

In the opinion of the directors of the company, as at 31 March
2008, Rax-Comm (BVI) Limited, a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands (“BVI"), is the immediate parent and ultimate
controlling party of the company. This entity does not produce
financial statements available for public use.

Significant accounting policies
(@) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”),
which collective term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market
of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”). A summary of
the significant accounting policies adopted by the group is set out
below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are
first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the group and the company. Note 3 provides
information on the changes in accounting policies resulting from
initial application of these developments to the extent that they are
relevant to the group for the current and prior accounting periods
reflected in these financial statements.

For the year ended 31 March 2008 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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For the year ended 31 March 2008 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BHEZ

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2008 comprise the company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “group”).

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis except that the financial
instruments classified as available-for-sale are stated at their fair
value as explained in the accounting policies set out in note 2(d).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the
judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs
that have significant effect on the financial statements and estimates
with a significant risk of material adjustment in the next year are
discussed in note 35.

(c) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the group. Control exists when
the group has the power to govern the financial and operating
policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In
assessing control, potential voting rights that presently are exercisable
are taken into account.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(c) Subsidiaries (continued)

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences until
the date that control ceases. Intra-group balances and transactions
and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent
that there is no evidence of impairment.

In the company’s balance sheet, an investment in a subsidiary is
stated at cost less impairment losses, unless the investment is
classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is
classified as held for sale).

(d)  Other investments in debt and equity securities

The group’s and the company’s policies for investments in debt and
equity securities, other than investments in subsidiaries, are as

follows:

Investments in debt and equity securities are initially stated at cost,
which is their transaction price unless fair value can be more reliably
estimated using valuation techniques whose variables include only
data from observable markets. Cost includes attributable transaction
costs, except where indicated otherwise below. These investments
are subsequently accounted for as follows, depending on their
classification:

Investments in securities held for trading are classified as current
assets. Any attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or
loss as incurred. At each balance sheet date the fair value is
remeasured, with any resultant gain or loss being recognised in profit
or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss does not
include any dividends or interest earned on these investments as
these are recognised in accordance with the policies set out in notes
2(p)(v) and (vi).

Dated debt securities that the group and/or the company have the
positive ability and intention to hold to maturity are classified as
held-to-maturity securities. Held-to-maturity securities are stated in
the balance sheet at amortised cost less impairment losses (see note

2(f)).

For the year ended 31 March 2008 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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For the year ended 31 March 2008 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BHEZ

Significant accounting policies (continued)

(d)  Other investments in debt and equity securities
(continued)

Investments in equity securities that do not have a quoted market
price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably
measured are recognised in the balance sheet at cost less impairment
losses (see note 2(f)).

Investments in securities which do not fall into any of the above
categories are classified as available-for-sale securities. At each
balance sheet date the fair value is remeasured, with any resultant
gain or loss being recognised directly in equity, except foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from changes in the amortised
cost of monetary items such as debt securities which are recognised
directly in profit or loss. Dividend income from these investments is
recognised in profit or loss in accordance with the policy set out in
note 2(p)(vi) and, where these investments are interest-bearing,
interest calculated using the effective interest method is recognised
in profit or loss in accordance with the policy set out in note 2(p)(v).
When these investments are derecognised or impaired (see note
2(f)), the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised directly in
equity is recognised in profit or loss.

Investments are recognised/derecognised on the date the group
commits to purchase/sell the investments or they expire.

(e) Fixed assets

Fixed assets are stated in the balance sheet at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of
fixed assets are determined as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and are
recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of fixed
assets, less their estimated residual value, if any, using the straight-
line method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Qver the shorter of the lease
terms and 4 years

— Leasehold improvements

— Furniture and fixtures
— Computer and other
equipment

4 years
4 years

Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are
reviewed annually.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(f) Impairment of assets

(i) Impairment of investments in debt and equity securities and
other receivables

Investments in debt and equity securities (other than investments in
subsidiaries, see note 2(f)(ii)) and other current and non-current
receivables that are stated at cost or amortised cost or are classified
as available-for-sale securities are reviewed at each balance sheet
date to determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment.
Objective evidence of impairment includes observable data that
comes to the attention of the group about one or more of the
following loss events:

significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments;

- it becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy

or other financial reorganisation;

- significant changes in the technological, market, economic
or legal environment that have an adverse effect on the
debtor; and

- a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an
investment in an equity instrument below its cost.

If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss is determined and
recognised as follows:

- For unquoted equity securities carried at cost, the impairment
loss is measured as the difference between the carrying
amount of the financial asset and the estimated future cash
flows, discounted at the current market rate of return for a
similar financial asset where the effect of discounting is
material. Impairment losses for equity securities are not

reversed.
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For the year ended 31 March 2008 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BHE

Significant accounting policies (continued)

()

@)

Impairment of assets (continued)

Impairment of investments in debt and equity securities and
other receivables (continued)

For trade and other current receivables and other financial
assets carried at amortised cost, the impairment loss is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest
rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition of these assets), where the effect of discounting
is material. This assessment is made collectively where
financial assets carried at amortised cost share similar risk
characteristics, such as similar past due status, and have not
been individually assessed as impaired. Future cash flows
for financial assets which are assessed for impairment
collectively are based on historical loss experience for assets
with credit risk characteristics similar to the collective group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be linked objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised,
the impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss. A
reversal of an impairment loss shall not result in the asset’s
carrying amount exceeding that which would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior
years.

For available-for-sale securities, the cumulative loss that has
been recognised directly in equity is removed from equity
and is recognised in profit or loss. The amount of the
cumulative loss that is recognised in profit or loss is the
difference between the acquisition cost (net of any principal
repayment and amortisation) and current fair value, less any
impairment loss on that asset previously recognised in profit
or loss.

Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss in respect of
available-for-sale equity securities are not reversed through
profit or loss. Any subsequent increase in the fair value of
such assets is recognised directly in equity.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(f) Impairment of assets (continued)

(i) Impairment of investments in debt and equity securities and
other receivables (continued)

Impairment losses in respect of available-for-sale debt
securities are reversed if the subsequent increase in fair value
can be objectively related to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognised. Reversals of impairment

losses in such circumstances are recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses are written off against the corresponding assets
directly, except for impairment losses recognised in respect of trade
debtors and bills receivable included within trade and other
receivables, whose recovery is considered doubtful but not remote.
In this case, the impairment losses for doubtful debts are recorded
using an allowance account. When the group is satisfied that
recovery is remote, the amount considered irrecoverable is written
off against trade debtors and bills receivable directly and any amounts
held in the allowance account relating to the debt are reversed.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously charged to the
allowance account are reversed against the allowance account. Other
changes in the allowance account and subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off directly are recognised in profit or
loss.

(ii) Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at each
balance sheet date to identify indications that the following assets
may be impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an impairment
loss previously recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:
- fixed assets

- investments in subsidiaries; and

= goodwill

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. In addition, for goodwill that are not yet available for

use, the recoverable amount is estimated annually whether or not
there is any indication of impairment.

For the year ended 31 March 2008 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

il= ITE (Holdings) Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2007-2008 4F 3§

Notes to the Financial Statements Bf#§#RRKizE
BE_TTN\F=A=1+—HLFE CABTIIE)

EFRETEHE @
(h EEREGG

0] BB B R E S R E Y IR KA
A (&)

EREBEHERER  HREBEFEREUK
HAFEEEZN - GRIA S ESE R
SHEREATARD - ZEERT  RESR
AR R [ o

MEBRECERNEETEZRE  BEREHER
WE 5 K E A EUR R~ AT AR 4% 48 73 R AR S
FEMTF LR B E 5 IR N SRR A0 E TR R (B
BRIGISN - AR EIR SR RIRIRABUEEE - fid
N SR B RE TR RE M 10 R MR SR B BT EL O - R
BRI OSSN ENE S R ERRRHER
BiE - MEBBRTHEARZEBNENSES
AR - B Z AR ABEIRFRAE R URE - AlFE
M BEE RELD - BURIRMEMEB R ZATEEK
HSH T HAR W B IR - 19 R R o

(i) Hib & ERIE

AR ESRREET —EHERER - A
TEE TIEE EEREERIN BB HEREDS -
HEAEERBEBBE N EFEREERD

- EEEE

- RIBAREIRE R

- ]

I

IMRBEREFBERR - BEMNATEESEEE(E
HFHE o tEoh - BREMEEAAE - AEFRIE
ERAEMBEDRR MY A Y E S EEREHF
ity °

47



Notes to the Financial Statements Bff&3RaRMizE

2

48

For the year ended 31 March 2008 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BHE

Significant accounting policies (continued)

()

(ii)

Impairment of assets (continued)
Impairment of other assets (continued)
Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its net
selling price and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Where an asset does not generate cash
inflows largely independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group of
assets that generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-
generating unit).

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss whenever
the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-generating unit
to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating
units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit (or group
of units) and then, to reduce the carrying amount of the
other assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro rata
basis, except that the carrying value of an asset will not be
reduced below its individual fair value less costs to sell, or

value in use, if determinable.
Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment loss
is reversed if there has been a favourable change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in
which the reversals are recognised.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(9) Inventories
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-out cost formula and
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and
condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories
is recognised as an expense in the period in which the related revenue
is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net
realisable value and all losses of inventories are recognised as an
expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount
of any reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in
the period in which the reversal occurs.

(h) Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value and
thereafter stated at amortised cost less allowance for impairment
of doubtful debts (see note 2(f)), except where the receivables are
interest-free loans made to related parties without any fixed
repayment terms or the effect of discounting would be immaterial.
In such cases, the receivables are stated at cost less allowance for
impairment of doubtful debts.

(i) Service contracts

When the outcome of a service contract can be estimated reliably,
contract costs are recognised as an expense by reference to the
stage of completion of the contract at the balance sheet date. When
it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract
revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense immediately.
When the outcome of a service contract cannot be estimated reliably,
contract costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which
they are incurred.

For the year ended 31 March 2008 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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BHEZ

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(i) Service contracts (continued)

Service contracts in progress at the balance sheet date are recorded
in the balance sheet at the net amount of costs incurred plus
recognised profits less recognised losses and progress billings, and
are presented in the balance sheet as the “Gross amount due from
customers for service contract work” (as an asset) or the “Gross
amount due to customers for service contract work” (as a liability),
as applicable. Progress billings not yet paid by the customers are
included in the balance sheet under “Trade and other receivables”.
Amounts received before the related work is performed are included
in the balance sheet under “Trade and other payables”.

)] Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, having been within three months of maturity
at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the group’s cash management are also
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the
purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement.

(k)  Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value. Except
for financial guarantee liabilities measured in accordance with note
2(n)(i), trade and other payables are subsequently stated at amortised
cost unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at cost.

() Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any
difference between the amount initially recognised and redemption
value being recognised in profit or loss over the period of the
borrowings, together with any interest and fees payable, using the
effective interest method.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(m) Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that they relate to items recognised directly in
equity, in which case they are recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for
the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of
previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable
temporary differences respectively, being the differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from
unused tax losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities, and
all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be
utilised, are recognised. Further taxable profits that may support
the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those differences
relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity,
and are expected to reverse either in the same period as the expected
reversal of the deductible temporary difference or in periods into
which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried
back or forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining
whether existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses
and credits, that is, those differences are taken into account if they
relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity,
and are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax
loss or credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities are those temporary differences arising from goodwill not
deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided
they are not part of a business combination), and temporary
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that,
in the case of taxable differences, the group controls the timing of
the reversal and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible differences, unless
it is probable that they will reverse in the future.

For the year ended 31 March 2008 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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BHE

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(m) Income tax (continued)

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the
expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount
of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at each
balance sheet date and is reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow the
related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to
the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends
are recognised when the liability to pay the related dividends is
recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements
therein, are presented separately from each other and are not offset.
Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities, and
deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the company or
the group has the legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and the following additional
conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the company
or the group intends either to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either:

= the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered, intend to realise the current tax assets
and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis or
realise and settle simultaneously.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

(n)  Financial guarantees issued, provision and
contingent liabilities

(i) Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer (i.e. the
guarantor) to make specified payments to reimburse the beneficiary
of the guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the holder incurs because
a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance
with the terms of a debt instrument.

Where the group issues a financial guarantee, the fair value of the
guarantee (being the transaction price, unless the fair value can
otherwise be reliably estimated) is initially recognised as deferred
income within trade and other payables. Where consideration is
received or receivable for the issuance of the guarantee, the
consideration is recognised in accordance with the group’s policies
applicable to that category of asset. Where no such consideration is
received or receivable, an immediate expense is recognised in profit
or loss on initial recognition of any deferred income.

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised as deferred income
is amortised in profit or loss over the term of the guarantee as income
from financial guarantees issued. In addition, provisions are
recognised in accordance with note 2(n)(ii) if and when (i) it becomes
probable that the holder of the guarantee will call upon the group
under the guarantee, and (ii) the amount of that claim on the group
is expected to exceed the amount currently carried in trade and
other payables in respect of that guarantee i.e. the amount initially
recognised, less accumulated amortisation.

(ii) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount
when the group or the company has a legal or constructive obligation
arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure
expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will
be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability
of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote.

For the year ended 31 March 2008 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(o) Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date.
Exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss, except
those arising from foreign currency borrowings used to hedge a net
investment in a foreign operation which are recognised directly in
equity.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at
fair value are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the dates the fair value was determined.

The results of foreign operations are translated into Hong Kong
dollars (“$") at the exchange rates approximating the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Balance sheet
items, including goodwill arising on consolidation of foreign
operations acquired on or after 1 January 2005, are translated into
$ at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date.
The resulting exchange differences are recognised directly in a
separate component of equity. Goodwill arising on consolidation of
a foreign operation acquired before 1 January 2005 is translated at
the foreign exchange rate that applied at the date of acquisition of
the foreign operation.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of the
exchange differences recognised in equity which relate to that
foreign operation is included in the calculation of the profit or loss
on disposal.

(p)  Revenue recognition
Provided it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the

group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can be measured
reliably, revenue is recognised in profit or loss as follows:

i

) Service revenue

Service revenue comprises revenue from smartcard systems, radio
frequency identification (“RFID”) and information technology (“IT")
and related service contracts.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(p) Revenue recognition (continued)
(i) Service revenue (continued)

Revenue from a fixed price individual service contract is recognised
using the percentage of completion method, measured by reference
to the percentage of contract costs incurred to date to estimated
total contract costs for the contract. When the outcome of a service
contract cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only to
the extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable will be
recoverable.

(ii) Consultancy income

Consultancy income is recognised when the consultancy services
are rendered.

(iii) Income from maintenance services

Income from maintenance services is recognised on a straight-line
basis over the term of the maintenance service contracts.

Income received or receivable in respect of services which have not
been completed on or before the balance sheet date are shown in
the balance sheet as deferred maintenance income.

(iv) Sales of goods

Revenue from the sales of manufactured goods and trading of raw
materials is recognised on the transfer of significant risks and rewards
of ownership, which generally coincides with the time when the
goods are delivered and the title has passed to customers. Revenue
excludes value-added tax or other sales taxes, if any, and is after
deduction of any trade discounts.

For the year ended 31 March 2008 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(p) Revenue recognition (continued)
(v) Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest
method.

(vi) Dividends

- Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised
when the shareholder’s rights to receive payment is
established.

- Dividend income from listed investments is recognised when
the share price of the investment goes ex-dividend.

(vii) Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the balance sheet initially when
there is reasonable assurance that they will be received and that the
group will comply with the conditions attaching to them. Grants
that compensate the group for expenses incurred are recognised as
revenue in profit or loss on a systematic basis in the same periods in
which the expenses are incurred. Grants that compensate the group
for the cost of an asset are deducted in arriving at the carrying
amount of the asset and consequently are recognised in profit or
loss over the useful life of the asset.

(@@ Employee benefits

(i) Short-term employee benefits and contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits
are accrued in the year in which the associated services are rendered
by employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred and the
effect would be material, these amounts are stated at their present

values.
(ii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only when, the group
demonstrably commits itself to terminate employment or to provide
benefits as a result of voluntary redundancy by having a detailed
formal plan which is without realistic possibility of withdrawal.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(r) Research and development costs

Expenditure on research and development activities is recognised
as an expense in the year in which it is incurred.

(s) Operating lease charges

Leases which do not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the group are classified as operating leases.

Where the group has the use of assets held under operating leases,
payments made under the leases are charged to profit or loss in
equal instalments over the accounting periods covered by the lease
term, except where an alternative basis is more representative of
the pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased asset. Lease
incentives received are recognised in profit or loss as an integral
part of the aggregate net lease payments made. Contingent rentals
are charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they
are incurred.

(t) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in profit or loss in the year in which
they are incurred.

(u)  Related parties

For the purposes of these financial statements, a party is considered
to be related to the group if:

(i) the party has the ability, directly or indirectly through one or
more intermediaries, to control the group or exercise
significant influence over the group in making financial and
operating policy decisions, or has joint control over the

group;
(ii) the group and the party are subject to common control;

(iii) the party is an associate of the group or a joint venture in
which the group is a venturer;

(iv) the party is a member of key management personnel of the
group or the group’s parent, or a close family member of
such an individual, or is an entity under the control, joint
control or significant influence of such individuals;

For the year ended 31 March 2008 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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2  Significant accounting policies (continued) 2  FESTHEBE @

(u)  Related parties (continued)

(v) the party is a close family member of a party referred to in
(i) or is an entity under the control, joint control or significant
influence of such individuals; or

(vi) the party is a post-employment benefit plan which is for the
benefit of employees of the group or of any entity that is a
related party of the group.

Close family members of an individual are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that
individual in their dealings with the entity.

(v) Segment reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the group that is
engaged either in providing products or services (business segment),
or in providing products or services within a particular economic
environment (geographical segment), which is subject to risks and
rewards that are different from those of other segments.

In accordance with the group’s internal financial reporting system,
the group has chosen business segment information as the primary
reporting format and geographical segment information as the
secondary reporting format for the purposes of these financial
statements.

Segment revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities include items
directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be
allocated on a reasonable basis to the segment. For example,
segment assets may include fixed assets, inventories and trade
receivables.

Segment revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities are determined
before intra-group balances and intra-group transactions are
eliminated as part of the consolidation process, except to the extent
that such intra-group balances and transactions are between group
entities within a single segment. Inter-segment pricing is based on
similar terms as those available to other external parties.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the
year to acquire segment assets, both tangible and intangible, that
are expected to be used for more than one year.

Unallocated items mainly comprise financial and corporate assets,
interest-bearing loans, borrowings, tax balances, corporate and
financing expenses.
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Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued a number of new and revised HKFRSs and
Interpretations that are first effective or available for early adoption
for the current accounting period of the group and the company.

There have been no significant changes to the accounting policies
applied in these financial statements for the years presented as a
result of these developments. However, as a result of the adoption
of HKFRS 7 “Financial instruments: Disclosures” and the amendment
to HKAS 1 “Presentation of financial statements: Capital
disclosures”, there have been certain additional disclosures provided.

As a result of the adoption of HKFRS 7, the financial statements
include expanded disclosure about the significance of the group’s
financial instruments and the nature and extent of risks arising from
those instruments, compared with the information previously
required to be disclosed by HKAS 32 “Financial instruments:
Disclosure and presentation”. These disclosures are provided
throughout these financial statements, in particular in note 29.

The amendment to HKAS 1 introduces additional disclosure
requirements to provide information about the level of capital and
the group’s and the company’s objectives, policies and processes
for managing capital. These new disclosures are set out in note
28(e).

Both HKFRS 7 and the amendment to HKAS 1 do not have any
material impact on the classification, recognition and measurements

of the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

The group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that
is not yet effective for the current accounting period (see note 35).

For the year ended 31 March 2008 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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4 Turnover

The principal activities of the group are provision of smartcard
systems and related services, manufacture, research and sales of
service related products and provision of IT consultancy services.

Turnover represents the sales value of goods supplied to customers
and revenue from services rendered. The amount of each significant
category of revenue recognised in turnover during the year is as
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follows:
2008 —ET/\F 2007 —EZT+F
$ T $ T
Provision of smartcard systems, IREBEER RS - 5188
RFID and IT services &R s
— Service revenue — BRF W 19,671,944 16,203,823
— Income from maintenance — RERBIA
services 4,329,537 4,360,127
— Sales of service related products — $56 RFSHERE @ 3,397,378 3,167,393
27,398,859 23,731,343
Consultancy income A AR AU 50,093,732 43,098,382
77,492,591 66,829,725
5 Otherincome Htglr A
2008 —BENE 2007 —ZTHA
$ T $ T
Interest income MEHA 503,208 504,631
Gain on disposal of financial assets H&EZRAFEEFAEBZEE
at fair value through profit or loss ~ Bi& ZE Wz 26,026 666
Dividend income from financial BATEBEFABZSH
assets at fair value through AEMREIA
profit or loss - 240
Investment income from AEHESHEE
available-for-sale financial assets ~ AJRE WA 24,960 24,960
Compensation for secondment B THRIKaIHE
of staff 22,446 132,901
Government grant (note) BT R Br & (i) 186,016 -
Sundry income HAb YA 45,860 216,995
808,516 880,393

Note: In January 2007, the group successfully applied for a grant from the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. The
purpose of the grant is to encourage innovation to commercial entities
whose research projects meet certain criteria.
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6  Profit before taxation 6 BREAER
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting): BB ADRFIE IR GEA) ¢

2008 —EZ)N\F 2007 ZET+F

$ T $ 7T
(@)  Finance costs: (a) BB ¢
Interest on bank loans and RITEEREX
overdrafts FE 1,152,093 1,267,938
Interest on other borrowings HAiEERN S 48,820 172,253
1,200,913 1,440,191
(b)  Staff costs*: (b) B ITpA :
Salaries, wages and e - WM REM
other benefits G=wl 54,870,901 48,312,133
Retirement scheme RIRFHEIER R
contributions (note 26) (Fft#£26) 2,126,673 1,893,195
56,997,574 50,205,328
() Other items: (0) HmIERE -
Auditor’s remuneration =B & 380,000 286,000
Cost of inventories* TFERAH 11,599,124 11,111,412
Depreciation e 293,619 338,528
Development costs 3L Bk A 1,103,966 873,570
Exchange loss bE 5 &8 119,590 28,678
Impairment losses BIEEE
— available-for-sale — At HE S F
financial assets BE - 62,100
— other receivables — E IR K - 353,733
Loss/(gain) on disposal of HEETEEERE
fixed assets () 1,294 (1,025)
Operating lease charges: HEMY :
minimum lease payments =EHERIA
— hire of properties —ERE 1,852,468 1,632,649
— hire of office equipment — N AR ERE 9,600 2,400
Write-down of inventories FEME 258,197 25,147
# Staff costs included $882,328 (2007: $829,400) relating to development # B T A 15882,328 T (ZZEZ 4 : 829,400
costs, which amount is also disclosed separately in note 6(c). TO) FREE R - L F IR A AR B AE MR 6(0) B
= o
#H Cost of inventories included $258,197 (2007: $25,147) relating to write- ## FEKABIE258,1977T (ZT T4 : 25,1477T)
down of inventories, which amount is also disclosed separately in note FEFRE  BWEFENEEEN6()BILHEE -
6(c).
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7 Income tax in the consolidated income 7 HZEWEROFTEBH
statement
(a) Taxation in the consolidated income statement represents: (a) fre R RIEE ¢
2008 —ZFE)\F 2007 Z=ZtF
$ T $ T
Hong Kong profits tax BBPTEN
Provision for the year F RS 116,000 220,000
Overseas taxation EINRIR
Under-provision in respect of FERETR
prior years 2,015 466
118,015 220,466

ZET\EEMNBEEMEHRRERE G A
17.5% (ZZZtF : 17.5%) 575 - HINOERT
wAFIE - AID RIRIBIRITAS - R RERA
SEKERRMBITHEGH o

The provision for Hong Kong profits tax for 2008 is calculated at
17.5% (2007: 17.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for the
year. Taxation for overseas subsidiaries is charged at the appropriate
current rates of taxation ruling in the relevant jurisdictions.

No provision for income tax in the People’s Republic of China (the REBRFENERZEARLFE ([ IJ)—IEWEE’\]

62

“PRC") has been made in the financial statements as the group did A AR T R AR R B R (BT

not have any assessable profits for taxation purposes in the PRC

during the year (2007: $Nil).

&) -

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit (b) BREXHREa M ERAT XN
at applicable tax rate: AR
2008 —ZEZE)N\F 2007 —EZTtF
$ T $ 7T

Profit before taxation BRA Al A 1,203,625 1,177,892
Notional tax at the applicable AR E A 8

tax rate of 17.5% REXFHIA(17.5%) 210,634 206,131
Tax effect of temporary differences EREENNBSE 15,402 1,940
Tax effect of non-taxable income BAR AR T

-1 (6,694) (34,364)

Tax effect of non-deductible NRTHIR E AR5

expenses 7 1,993 32,424
Tax effect of unused tax losses RER LA ATIE

not recognised RN BT E 361,308 279,563
Tax effect of prior year's tax losses FAEARIBEE

utilised RIS R & (345,376) (167,779)
Tax effect of different tax rates of P A mAS & 5

subsidiaries operating in other Tt R AR H B 75

jurisdictions P (123,679) (85,726)
Under-provision in respect of FERNBETR

prior years 2,015 466
Others HAit 2,412 (12,189)
Actual tax expense ERBIES 118,015 220,466
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EEMeE

8 Directors’ remuneration 8

Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules RIRBIFAR AR B R BB R RIEGIFE 16 1FHRKERN

and section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is as HEMEFBOT :
follows:
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits scheme 2008
fees in kind contributions Total
e BER BRGTE —EZN\F
=0 BYFE R ast
$ T $ T ST $ T
Executive directors WITES
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent 2EN LA - 624,000 12,000 636,000
Mr. George Roger Manho BEExE 12,500 90,000 4,500 107,000
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung BRI AE - 624,000 12,000 636,000
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah BEERE - 72,000 3,600 75,600
12,500 1,410,000 32,100 1,454,600
Independent non-executive directors BUFHITES
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen FlERIEL 240,000 - - 240,000
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony RIZR kA& 50,000 - - 50,000
Mr. Tang Siu, Henry ARk~ 50,000 - - 50,000
340,000 - - 340,000
Total Ch 352,500 1,410,000 32,100 1,794,600
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits scheme 2007
fees in kind contributions Total
e R RIRETE “ZTtF
Exvicn REYF 5 A&t
$ T $ T $ 7T $ 7T
Executive directors WITES
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent 2EN LA - 589,000 12,000 601,000
Mr. George Roger Manho BEExE - 161,000 7,500 168,500
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung BRI - 587,000 12,000 599,000
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah BEERE - 72,000 3,600 75,600
— 1,409,000 35,100 1,444,100
Independent non-executive directors BUFHITES
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen FlERIEL 240,000 - - 240,000
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony RIZR kA& 50,000 - - 50,000
Mr. Tang Siu, Henry WAL E 50,000 - - 50,000
340,000 - - 340,000
Total G 340,000 1,409,000 35,100 1,784,100
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B

9 Individuals with highest emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two (2007:
two) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in note 8. The
aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the other three (2007:

three) individuals are as follows:

E-FT)\F=A=1—BILFE GABITIIE)

9 EBEHFAL

RAMRRFALT @ ML (CETLF WD R
B RENMSEHNMES  HBR=L (CFF
+5F : =) &S FA LM SEENT

2008 —EENEFE 2007 —EZ+F
$T $ T
Salaries and other emoluments e REMME 1,718,100 1,815,271
Retirement scheme contributions  3RRET &Itk 36,000 36,000
1,754,100 1,851,271
The emoluments of the three (2007: three) individuals with the =N (ZEELF =) B FATHHMENTT

highest emoluments are within the following band:

$Nil — $1,000,000 £t —1,000,0007T

FIEBE :

2008 —EE/N\F
Number of
individuals

ATEE

2007 —_ZEEZ+F
Number of
individuals

ATEH

10 Profit for the year and attributable to
shareholders of the company

The consolidated profit attributable to shareholders of the company

includes a profit of $112,817 (2007: $231,103) which has been
dealt with in the financial statements of the company.
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Earnings per share 11 8SKRER
(a) Basic earnings per share (a) BREXER
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit BIREARRBANTHIZR R B R F1,085,6107T (ZF
attributable to shareholders of the company of $1,085,610 (2007: T ¢ 957,42670) R FREBEITRD A MEFS
$957,426) and the weighted average of 907,536,000 (2007: % £7907,536,0000% (= ZZ+4 : 907,536,000/%)
907,536,000) ordinary shares in issue during the year. TERETE -
(b) Diluted earnings per share (by ERBESEF
The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on the profit TRREEE R A IR R FE(E % A11,085,6107T & 5]
attributable to shareholders of the company of $1,085,610 and the FRBETRG BTk 20926,811,1150 (=
weighted average number of ordinary shares of 926,811,115 shares TRLF  WEEEAEE SRR TRkEE
(2007: no dilutive potential ordinary shares in existence), calculated
as follows:
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted) InEFEREN SRR (B8
2008 —ZEENF
Weighted average number of R=RA=1+—B8mnE
ordinary shares at 31 March AR B E AR 907,536,000
Effect of deemed issue of shares BBEARA TR A REM
under the company’s share option HIRB AR AT B AR AR
scheme for nil consideration EE TR E 19,275,115
Weighted average number of R=ZA=+—H8H
ordinary shares (diluted) i SliE LG
at 31 March TE (B ES) 926,811,115
Segment reporting 12 2HPHSE

Segment information is presented in respect of the group’s business
and geographical segments. Business segment information is chosen
as the primary reporting format because this is more relevant to the
group’s internal financial reporting.

(a) Business segments
The group comprises the following main business segments:

Smartcard systems, The provision of smartcard

RFID and IT services systems, RFID and IT services

The provision of IT consultancy
services

Consultancy services

AEBTHER RN 2 I D EER - NEEEE
NEBD BT MESERERERN - RREEE
RRA KB H NSRS -

(a) EBoE

AEENERXRBHEBELE
BEERFES ; REBERZES
5T SRR K IR SlDSS
B AR RS B AR RS
R AR R E AR R R AR
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BE_ZTT\F=ZA=T—HLEFE CAETIIE

12 Segment reporting (continued) 12 ZEBE|E (&)
(a) Business segments (continued) (a) EKoEB ()
Smartcard systems, Consultancy
RFID and IT services services Consolidated
BRFZAE - FERAREARERE EERE &a
2008 “EENE 2007 —ZEtF 208 =FBENE 2007 _TTLF 2008 =EFNE 2007 _TTLF
ST ST ST ST ST ST
(restated) (restated) (restated)
(i E71) (i =51) (i =51)

TURNOVER BXE
Revenue from HINRFR)

external customers s 27,398,859 23,731,343 50,093,732 43,098,382 77,492,591 66,829,725
RESULTS %5
Segment results PEEE (2,654,019) (3411,210) 5,910,767 5,283,705 3,256,748 1,872,495
Unallocated corporate revenue FPAECERE 600,054 747,492
Unallocated corporate KFARLEER

expenses (1,452,264) (1,827,754)
Profit from operations Eyi] 2,404,538 792,233
Finance costs AN (1,200,913) (1,440,191)
Gain on disposal of HETHHE

available-for-sale SREENR

financial assets - 1,825,850
Profit before taxation BRBRIRR 1,203,625 1,177,892
Income tax FisHt (118,015) (220,466)
Profit for the year EREF 1,085,610 957,426
ASSETS gE
Segment assets PHEE 10,047,231 9,473,224 4,073,951 3,700,088 14,121,182 13,173,312
Unallocated assets KFAREE 19,581,895 19,548,825
Total assets BEA: 33,703,077 32,722,137
LIABILITIES 8%
Segment liabilities AEHaE 4,834,949 5,715,086 6,754,503 6,097,716 11,589,452 11,812,802
Unallocated liabilities ATAREE 11,471,730 11,763,717
Total liabilities BfEAS 23,061,182 23,576,519
OTHER INFORMATION HiER
Capital expenditure BARY 147,546 765,698 12,234 6,300 159,780 771,998
Depreciation ik 278,809 291,520 14,810 47,008 293,619 338,528
Write-down of inventories FENE 258,197 25,147 - = 258,197 25,147
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12 Segment reporting (continued) 12 ZEEHE (&)

(b) Geographical segments (b) i IR

The group participates principally in Hong Kong, the PRC and Macau. REEFZEDE - PEIARRPILE T
TEIR I 25 E R « S A THIRE P e

In presenting information on the basis of geographical segment,
25 o DEEEKRE AR IHIRE E A i 15 &)

segment revenue is based on the geographical location of customers.

Segment assets and capital expenditure are based on the 7 e
geographical location of the assets.
Hong Kong Macau The PRC Other locations Consolidated
EB RA HE Hih 7 &E
2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
“ET\F —TTtF ZBENFE —TTHF ZEBNF —TTHF ZEBENFE —TTLF ZBBENF —TTHF
$ 7T $7T ST ST $ 7 $7T ST ST $T $7T
(restated) (restated) (restated) (restated)
(g =51) (g =31) (g =51) (t=71)
Revenue from HINEF K=
external customers 62,164,676 56,839,643 12,411,714 6,288,607 415,597 550,301 2,500,604 3,151,174 77,492,591 66,829,725
Segment assets DHEE 28,349,361 27,558,879 2,906,585 657,199 1,126,435 2,225,116 1,320,696 2,280,943 33,703,077 32,722,137
Capital expenditure BARY 108,254 766,696 21,727 - 29,799 5,302 - - 159,780 771,998
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BHE

“ZRN\F=ZH=1+—HLFE CUETIIE)

Fixed assets 13 BEEEE
The group REE
Computer
Leasehold Furniture and other
improvements  and fixtures equipment Total
ERK
HENEEE - BAREKE Hitiik 4 At
$ 7T $ 7T $ 7T $ 7T
Cost: B
At 1 April 2006 RZZZFMA—H 380,126 469,959 3,230,316 4,080,401
Additions NE 539,133 16,200 216,665 771,998
Disposals/written off HE /HE (380,126) (38,254) (582,555) (1,000,935)
Exchange adjustments 0 5 SR - 1,044 3,655 4,699
At 31 March 2007 and R-ZZ+F=A=1+—8BK
1 April 2007 e e = 539,133 448,949 2,868,081 3,856,163
Additions NE - 16,600 143,180 159,780
Disposals/written off e /s - (13,184) (118,405) (131,589)
Exchange adjustments PE R - 4,191 15,293 19,484
At 31 March 2008 RZZEZENF=A=1+—H 539,133 456,556 2,908,149 3,903,838
Accumulated depreciation: RItihE:
At 1 April 2006 RZZZ EMA—H 313,045 449,965 2,956,268 3,719,278
Charge for the year FAME 147,649 18,072 172,807 338,528
Written back on disposals/written off RS T8 Y (380,126) (38,136) (580,498) (998,760)
Exchange adjustments BE H AR - 988 3,140 4,128
At 31 March 2007 and RZZTLF=A=1+—HK
1 April 2007 “EELEMA—H 80,568 430,889 2,551,717 3,063,174
Charge for the year FRME 134,755 10,393 148,471 293,619
Written back on disposals/written off RS M BY - (13,184) (117,111) (130,295)
Exchange adjustments BE H AR - 4,099 13,599 17,698
At 31 March 2008 RZZZNF=A=+—H 215,323 432,197 2,596,676 3,244,196
Carrying amount: IREE
At 31 March 2008 R-EZENF=A=1+—H 323,810 24,359 311,473 659,642
At 31 March 2007 RZZBZLF=A=+—H 458,565 18,060 316,364 792,989
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For the year ended 31 March 2008 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

14 Goodwill 14 BE
The group
AEH
$ 7T
Cost )N
At 1 April 2006, 31 March 2007, RZZTZERFOA—H - —ET+tF=F=+—8H "
1 April 2007 and 31 March 2008 —EEHFNA-BAR T N\F=A=1+—H 9,507,923
Accumulated amortisation RE#H
At 1 April 2006, 31 March 2007, RZZTZERFOA—H - —ETLF=F=+—1H
1 April 2007 and 31 March 2008 —ETHFENA-—AR-_ZTENF=A=+—H 3,169,307
Accumulated impairment loss ZERERE
At 1 April 2006, 31 March 2007, RZZTEREFWMA—H - —ET+F=A=+—1
1 April 2007 and 31 March 2008 T+ FENA— AR -_TEENF=A=+—H 6,338,616
Carrying amount R E{E
At 31 March 2008 RZZEENF=A=+—H -
At 31 March 2007 R-ZZET+F=A=+—H -
15 Investments in subsidiaries 15 MEXIRRE
The company
RAF
2008 —EENF 2007 —ZTT L4
$ T $ 7T
Unlisted investments, at cost JE ETHIRE (A A) 4,000,000 4,000,000
Amounts due from subsidiaries JELBfT /BB A R BR K 4,172,843 4,023,505
The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free and FEUH A RIIR D R EIER - 2B RARERE
repayable on demand. & e
The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries which NTAEEVEAEENEE  BERBENNE
principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the group. The NRFHE ° RN - IS AERNE AEER -

class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.
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15 Investments in subsidiaries (continued) 15 KEATRRE (&)
Place of Particulars
incorporation/ Percentage of of issued
registration and ownership and paid up
Name of company operation interest capital Principal activities
EBTR
aE 1 37 B HMERAE
AR EHB R it B RN E D S FEXK
Indirect
i
ITE Smartcard Solutions Hong Kong 100% 3,418,336 Provision of smartcard systems
Limited B shares of $1 each and related services and
BIEAGARAT 3,418,3360% sales of service related
(BiREET) products
TR B R R4 R ABRA AR S
Ko SHE AR TS AR RA 2= i
RF Tech Limited Hong Kong 100% 2 shares of $1 each Manufacture and research of
B 2% (BAREE T smartcard system and

service related products
HERIARE R RERS

MR m

ITE (China) Limited PRC 100% United States dollars Provision of smartcard systems

(note) 2] 700,000 and related services
RS AR R PR 700,000  fRMERER R4 MARRIRTE

AR AR (B
Quesco Systems Limited Hong Kong 100% 6,500,000 Provision of IT consultancy
R RASEEER AR B shares of $1 each services

6,500,000  HRHEGNRIREERE RS
(BREET)

ITE Sistema (Macau) Limitada  Macau 100% Macau Patacas Provision of smartcard systems
B R4 CRPY) SEPY 25,000 and related services and
BRATA 25,0008 9 #& sales of service related

products
RIS R FES KBRS
K 85 E RIS AERA ZE fm
Note:  ITE (China) Limited is a wholly foreign owned enterprise with an operating fisE . EBMYKEERGAERARA —REINEDR
period of 20 years expiring on 26 June 2021. ¥ KEBHA—TF RZTZ—FAZ+RN
& e
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the group which, in the FRITEFRREIBVEASEAFERELR
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year AEEFAETRENRTNAOMBAR - EFRA
or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the group. To Wk H A B A R F B & S BURRBRITR

give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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16 Available-for-sale financial assets 16 AHHESHEE
The group
rEE
2008 —ZEEN\F 2007 —ZEZTHF
$ T $ T
Guaranteed fund, at fair value REES (BAFERB) 1,653,600 1,487,900
The fair value of the guaranteed fund is based on the quoted market REE VS| BT HERRATERE  YRZTZT
price. It will mature on 24 December 2008. At 31 March 2008, the )\E'I'_ A=t+mMBE® - R=FEEN\F=A=+
guaranteed fund was pledged as security for banking facilities RFBE SR T RTURE —RIBITRHE
granted to the group (note 25(d)). (WEZS ) e
17 Inventories 17 =&
Inventories in the consolidated balance sheet comprise: REAEEABRNEERR !
The group
rEE
2008 —ZEEN\F 2007 —ZEZTHF
$ T $ T
Raw materials R 1,016,388 1,085,837
Work in progress ERm 163,690 48,639
Finished goods IRk 518,890 790,708
1,698,968 1,925,184
18 Trade and other receivables 18 FEWEZ K HMtEWIRR
The group &~&EE The company A2
2008 —EENF 2007 —TZ+tF 2008 —ZENF 2007 —TZLF
$ T $ T $ T $ T
Trade receivables (note (a)) FEME 553K (P 7E(a)) 5,568,564 5,217,457 - -
Other receivables (note (b)) Hoft FEUSIR 3K (B (b)) 549,711 202,166 142,340 140,288
Gross amount due from customers Bl PHRBA L
for service contract work (note 19) TReFoaeEE (HE19) 4,598,266 3,636,335 - =
Retention money receivables FERURE £ 177,965 242,546 - -
10,894,506 9,298,504 142,340 140,288
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For the year ended 31 March 2008 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BHE

Trade and other receivables (continued)

The amount of the group’s retention money receivables expected
to be recovered after more than one year is $Nil (2007: $76,825).
All of the other trade and other receivables, apart from those
mentioned in note 19, are expected to be recovered or recognised
as expense within one year.

(@)  Trade receivables

(i) Ageing analysis

An ageing analysis of trade receivables as at the balance sheet date

“ZRN\F=ZH=1+—HLFE CUETIIE)

18

EWE 5 & H i ERIIRR (&)
NEBBHRBA—FF ARENEKREEATT
(ZZZ % :76,82570) ° BRMIFE 1973 /A5 - FTB
FEUE 5 Ko HAth FE U WR FR T8 B —4F (9 AT Ut (2] s
RAER -

(a) EBREZIRMR

IREC DT

—
=

REERBEESIRFOIRE DT AT

is as follows:
The group
TEH
2008 =ZE)\F 2007 —ZTT+F
$ T $ 7T

Current ANHA 270,947 263,322
Less than 1 month past due #EIDR—EA 3,467,381 3,849,510
1 month to 3 months past due B —(EAE={EA 1,228,196 879,695

More than 3 months but less than E ARER R = & A 1B
1 year past due R—F 602,040 221,305
Over 1 year past due B EAERA— - 3,625
Amounts past due BHSRE 5,297,617 4,954,135
5,568,564 5,217,457

Trade receivables are due within 30 days to 60 days (2007: 30 days
to 60 days) from the date of billing. Further details on the group’s
credit policy are set out in note 29(a).

(ii) Trade receivables that are not impaired

The ageing analysis of trade receivables that are neither individually
nor collectively considered to be impaired are set out in note 18(a)(i).

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a wide
range of customers for whom there was no recent history of default.

FEWE BIRFHZERE BHE30E60K (CTTL4F
30£60K) AEIHER - FIFEHMNMITF29(@) AN E B/
BEBUR °

(ii) RAERMEH Y E SRR

FTEE18(a)() B E Z IR KAV IRE ST IR B BB 15
HEEEERIE °

FEAIRFOR BB IARER KD E S LR
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Trade and other receivables (continued) 18
(a)  Trade receivables (continued)
(ii) Trade receivables that are not impaired (continued)

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number
of independent customers that have a good track record with the
group. Based on past experience, management believes that no
impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these balances as
there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the
balances are considered fully recoverable. The group does not hold
any collateral over these balances.

(b) Included in other receivables of the group was an amount
of $353,733 advanced to an ex-director of a subsidiary,
which was fully impaired in the year ended 31 March 2007.

For the year ended 31 March 2008 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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e & 55 2 HL At FEWRIR X (D)
(a) FEWE SR (&)
() REREREKE SRR ()

EAMEBIRTERERENBLEFEREAR
wFRSR - RIBEEKS  EEEREUEEHREE
SEZBESAME LR REREN BB TR
BIEHRERER - REBIRBFA IS E R ERK
JBHERY)

(b)  HtEWIRF R B REB353,733TEX T
—(IMEARAES  WFIECR =TT+
F=ZA=T—HILFEDIHELME -

Service contracts in progress 19 ETHPHREERN
The group
REE
2008 —ZEZEN\F 2007 —ZEZ£F
$ T $ T
Contract costs incurred plus ESBEBEENSMERRFH A
recognised profit less A8 R AV EsE
recognised losses to date 27,908,214 14,318,621
Less: Progress billings W EE R (23,563,021) (11,025,947)
4,345,193 3,292,674
Gross amount due from customers FEWE =8I RIS E 4 TIERIA
for service contract work #egm (f13E18)
(note 18) 4,598,266 3,636,335
Gross amount due to customers BN EFHIREE L TIERIA
for service contract work #egm (f13E23)
(note 23) (253,073) (343,661)
4,345,193 3,292,674

The gross amount due from/(to) customers for service contract work
at 31 March 2007 and 2008 is expected to be recovered/settled
within one year.

RIS ER-ZTT/\F=ZA=+—HHREKR
(Fefh) B P HIRB & N TIRFURARBHN —F A
UEDZ 5
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21
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BHE

Deposits and prepayments

The amount of the group’s deposits expected to be recovered or
recognised as expense after more than one year is $550,074 (2007:
$517,074). All of the other deposits and prepayments are expected
to be recovered or recognised as expense within one year.

Income tax in the consolidated balance sheet

(a) Current taxation in the consolidated balance
sheet represents:

“ZRN\F=ZH=1+—HLFE CUETIIE)

20

21

AEREGHER
AEBFEHN—FrARORERABANITS A

550,0747t (ZZZ+4F : 517,0747T) © MEME]E
kF#EROEHR —FAKDSEREER -

REEERERNAEN

(a) HFREEEEBRNAEHE:

The group
EE
2008 —ZEZT/\F 2007 —ZTTtF
$ T $ T
Provision for Hong Kong profits tax FRNBBEH
for the year Ecdi 116,000 220,000
Under-provision for overseas B EGINRIARE
taxation in prior years T 2,015 466
118,015 220,466
Provisional profits tax paid B EEMET (203,112) (420,410)
Balance of profits tax provision FEMSTREE
relating to prior years P (10,882) (466)
Income tax recoverable Al Y Bl TS FL (95,979) (200,410)

(b) Deferred tax assets not recognised

Deferred tax assets are not recognised for temporary differences
and tax losses carried forward due to the uncertainty of the related
tax benefit being realised through future taxable profits. The tax
effect on temporary differences and unrecognised tax losses was
approximately $8,099,000 (2007: $7,947,000) as at 31 March 2008.
Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of $626,678,
$822,000, $981,428 and $1,301,890 that will expire in December
2008, 2009, 2010 and 2011 respectively according to the prevailing
tax laws and regulations in the jurisdiction in which the group
operates. Other losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

(c) Deferred tax liabilities

At 31 March 2008 there were no significant unrecognised deferred
tax liabilities (2007: $Nil).

(b) ARERELEHIBEE

HRE B B 12 ) FER TR F R K AR R 5 R &
TR « R 2 58 AR B E S B AR T
MIBEEELER - R_TZEN\F=A=1+—8H -
HS = FE MR FER T IR B R B 157 248,099,000
TL(ZZZT 4 ¢ 7,947,0007T) © RIBEAEBEENH
EENBBERRIETE - AEREIEEE626,678
JT ~ 822,0007T ~ 981,4287T }.1,301,8907T3F 7 B
RZZTTNEF  ZTTNF - ZT—ZTFRZ=FT—
—F+Z AR - EAEBRIRI KA o
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For the year ended 31 March 2008 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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22 Cash and cash equivalents 22 BERBREEEY
The group &8 The company A2 7]
2008 —ET/\F 2007 ZTTtF 2008 —TENF 2007 —_TT+LF
$ T $ T $ T $ T
Cash and bank balances Re RRITiEeR 581,685 500,901 157 1,187
Time deposits EHER 17,108,292 17,206,889 - =
17,689,977 17,707,790 157 1,187
Less: Pledged bank deposits A BEARITER
(note 25(c)) (Pft&E25(c)) (16,773,222)  (15,806,889) - -
Cash and cash equivalents in the BERRRNAS LRSS
balance sheet B 916,755 1,900,901 157 1,187
Bank overdrafts (note 24) RI7E X% (FfE24) (4,299,977) (2,779,715)
Cash and cash equivalents in the FERERERNRER
consolidated cash flow statement ReZEY (3,383,222) (878,814)
Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank RITF N B AR F R R AR B R177E BF3KF
deposit rates. Time deposits are made for terms of between one EMEH - ERFEHFRE—EAZI=@ER (2=
month and three months (2007: one month and three months) +F : —@AAZ=@ER)TF RIF-EEFHREH
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the group. K BESEEmIE °
Trade and other payables 23 ENEZRHEMECER
The group &8 The company &2 7]
2008 —ET/\F 2007 ZTZtF 2008 —TENF 2007 _TTLF
$ T $ T $ T $ T
Trade and bills payables (note (a)) EREZREHER (5E@) 1,796,043 3,467,102 - -
Accrued charges and other payables JEEHE A R E i FE IR K 9,321,832 9,173,872 716,017 678,474
Other borrowings (note (b)) HiEE (b)) - 648,716 - =
Gross amount due to customers for EREPHRBEHIE
service contract work (note 19) FOEARE (F5E19) 253,073 343,661 - =
Deferred maintenance income EEREWA 920,120 999,364 - =
Retention money payables FERRE 2 14,400 14,400 - -
12,305,468 14,647,115 716,017 678,474

The amount of deferred maintenance income expected to be
recognised as income after more than one year is $55,000 (2007:
$115,000). All of the other trade and other payables are expected
to be settled or recognised as income within one year or are
repayable on demand.

BHR—FRIERRRANELERELAR
55,0007% (ZZZ+4F : 115,0007T) © MEtbEMSE
55 F E Ath FE A0 3R th 78 HRRA — F S A+t Bk FE 2 sk (B
BAHERRBKA o
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BHEZ

23 Trade and other payables (continued)
(@) Trade and bills payables

The ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the balance

ZZN\F=ZH=T—HLFE CUETHIE)

23 ENESZREMEMKRRK )
(a) ENEZIRREERR

REZ BT ERMNE S RERIRROIRE DT

sheet date, based on invoice date, is as follows: TS 3
The group
rEEH
2008 —EE)\F 2007 —ZTZ+4F
$ T $ T
Less than 1 month PR—{EA 624,181 2,701,103
1 month to 3 months —Z=={@A4 882,625 600,696
More than 3 months but less than HBA={EAE
1 year LR—E 229,806 49,650
More than 1 year but less than e —1E
2 years DRME 45,120 70,773
More than 2 years TR 38 EF 14,311 44,880
1,796,043 3,467,102

(b)  Other borrowings were unsecured and bore interest ranging
from 10% to 12% per annum and repayable on demand.

24  Short-term borrowings

The bank loans and overdrafts were repayable within one year or
on demand as follows:

(b) EMEEHREER  REFEI0EE12
EEERN S RIAREREER -

24 EHIEE

AR~ FAFEEREENRITEERBENT

The group
EE
2008 —ZEENF 2007 —EZtF
$ T $ 7T

Secured bank loans (note 25) BHERRITEE (HiFE25) 6,455,737 6,149,689
Secured bank overdrafts EEBIRITES

(notes 22 and 25) (Ff7E22 %.25) 4,299,977 2,779,715

10,755,714 8,929,404

The group’s bank loans and overdrafts bear interest ranging from
approximately 4.5% to 8.25% (2007: 7.75% to 8.5%) per annum
for the year ended 31 March 2008.
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26

Banking facilities

At 31 March 2008 the group had general banking facilities granted
by banks to the extent of approximately $23 million (2007: $22
million). The facilities were secured by the following:

(a) corporate guarantees executed by the company;

(b) personal guarantees executed by three directors of the
company (note 32(b));

(0) the group’s bank deposits of $16,773,222 (2007:
$15,806,889) (note 22); and

(d) the group’s available-for-sale financial assets of $1,653,600
(2007: $1,487,900) (note 16).

Employee retirement benefits

The group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance and not previously covered by
the defined benefit retirement plan. The MPF scheme is a defined
contribution retirement plan administered by independent trustees.
Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
$20,000. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

The subsidiary operating in the PRC is required to participate in a
defined contribution retirement scheme, organised by relevant
government authorities for the staff in the PRC. The subsidiary is
required to make contributions to the retirement scheme at certain
rates of the basic salary of their employees in the PRC.

The group’s retirement scheme contributions charged to the income
statement for the year were $2,126,673 (2007: $1,893,195).

For the year ended 31 March 2008 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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RITAE

R-ZBENF=ZA=+—0B » AEEERTREN
—MRERTTRLE $£4923,000,000C (ZEZT 4
22,000,0007T) ° BAE AT -

(@) AAB AR RIELR

(b) RAB=REENEALR FIEE320) :

(0) NEEAH16,773,222 T (ZTT4F -
15,806,8897T) HIER1TE HifF Kk (ME22)
54

(d) NEBEAE1,653,6007T (ZEEH4F :
1,487,9007T) Ry A 4 1 & & g & 2= (MI&E
16) °

ETRKEF

REBRELREDESITEROIAREETERE
TR1EPI BLAREFRE MR A REBFRAA BN E
BREERERHMEATESHE (RESHE) - Z
BB B AR EHRRNE - WARBIIEFRE
SEE - REBRESFE  BEREEBVARE
BAMNFHENS%RERESEINSK - MBAE
BrFT 2 LR 20,0007 © A HFIG RN R T 5+

g -
AABRPENMERREEMBFEEERE R
Mfﬁf@ﬁ% FHEERREREE - ME A RRRS
BAERERREREN L TN EBEEARNTE LA
FEHIPETR

REBRAFE AR
2,126,6737L (ZZZ L4 -

RIREAFEIER A
1,893,19575) o
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ZNF=ZA=+—HLFE CAETIIE

Share options schemes 27 BiR#EsE
The company adopted a pre-IPO share option scheme (the “Pre-IPO RARRZEE—F_A+= EI%%W—IEJ:FFHIJE’]
Scheme"”) on 12 February 2001. In addition, the company adopted MEAR Rt El (T EmAlEtEll) - REZEZEZFNAAN
a 2002 share option scheme (the “2002 Scheme”) on 8 August H @ ARAEMA-T —\,_iﬁﬁﬂﬂgﬁiﬂ(f_gg:
2002, and the Pre-IPO Scheme was simultaneously terminated. Upon EEHE) FRBRIE ETATETE] - £F LAl EIAR
termination of the Pre-IPO Scheme, no further options may be 1E78 - NEBREIL SR 2 EARRE o HERK
offered thereunder. However, in respect of the outstanding options, TEREAE - E AT SIEAE AR - EWATE
the provisions of the Pre-IPO Scheme shall remain in force. The B ARTTE R BB AR FE A B IR AT BIIR A - BIZEAR
outstanding options granted under the Pre-IPO Scheme shall ETRAE -+ =ER_TT_FEIHTETE
continue to be subject to the provisions of the Pre-IPO Scheme, 1k 180 AR T £ B A AR ) (R R o
respectively, and the provisions of Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing
Rules and the adoption of the 2002 Scheme will not in any event
affect the terms in respect of such outstanding options.
(@)  Pre-IPO Scheme (@)  EmAIEEl
As mentioned above, the Pre-IPO Scheme was terminated on 8 NERK - EWAERN T _F N \ANER
August 2002 and no further options may be offered thereunder. 1E - R TSR BEITIERE - REARARITE
Details of the outstanding share options of the scheme during the KRB ERI RIS T ¢
year are as follow:
Market
Number of share options Period Priceper  value per
BREHE during sharetobe  shareat
Name or Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed  Outstanding which paid on date of
category of at 1 April during during during  at 31 March Date options exercise of grant of
participant 2007 the year the year the year 2008 granted exercisable options options
RZBBLE RZBBNF RERE RuBRE
mA-A =R=t-H CEGL EAK
AEREEZIER BROE  RERREE  REAGE  RERRH HETE  EHEH BRETES ShER  RAHE
Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent/Director 6,109,440 - - - 6,109,440 12 February 2001 21 August 2001 to $0.095 N/A
11 February 2011
Agx/ /8% —E5-4-f1cA “EE-4/\A-t-AE 0095 T8
“F——%-At-H
George Roger Manho/Director 4,000,000 - - - 4,000,000 12 February 2001 21 August 2001 to $0.095 N/A
11 February 2011
Hek/£% 35-52f1CH ZE5-F)\AZt-AE  00%5% ik
“F——%-At-H
Cheng Kwok Hung/Director 4,000,000 - - - 4,000,000 12 February 2001 21 August 2001 to $0.095 N/A
11 February 2011
(G0, 4 “ET-F-AtCR “EE-F\A-t-AZ 0097 byl
“F—%2At-H
Liu Hoi Wah/Director 19,112,640 - - - 19,112,640 12 February 2001 21 August 2001 to $0.095 NIA
11 February 2011
e 35-52f1CA ZE5-F)\AZt-AE 00951 ik
ZBFIAt-A
Lee Peng Fei, Allen/Director 1,760,000 - - - 1,760,000 12 February 2001 21 August 2001 to $0.095 N/A
11 February 2011
IhR/ % ~23-5-f12A Z23-F)\ACt-HE  00%% TER
“F——%2At-H
Employees 35,157,920 - - - 35157,920 12 February 2001 21 August 2001 to $0.095 N/A
11 February 2011
| “FE-F-AtzH “EE-E)\AZT-BE 009 AR
“2—4-fjt-H
70,140,000 - - - 70,140,000
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Share options schemes (continued)
(b) 2002 Scheme

The company operates the 2002 Scheme for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to
the success of the group’s operations. Eligible participants of the
2002 Scheme include the company’s directors, including
independent non-executive directors, other employees of the group,
suppliers of goods or services to the group, customers of the group,
advisers and consultants, etc. The 2002 Scheme became effective
on 8 August 2002 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended,
will remain in force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under
the 2002 Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
company shall not exceed 30% of the total number of shares of the
company in issue. The maximum number of shares issuable under
share options to each eligible participant in the 2002 Scheme and
any other share option schemes of the company within any 12-
month period, is limited to 1% of the shares of the company in
issue at any time. Any further grant of share options in excess of
this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to directors, chief executives or substantial
shareholders of the company, or to any of their associates, are subject
to approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors.
In addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director of the company, or to
any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the
company in issue at any time or with an aggregate value (based on
the price of the company’s shares at the date of the grant) in excess
of $5 million, within any 12-month period, are subject to
shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 21
days from the date of the offer upon payment of a nominal
consideration of $1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of
the share options granted is determinable by the directors, and
commences after a certain vesting period and ends on a date which
is not later than 10 years from the date of the offer of the share
options or the expiry date of the 2002 Scheme, if earlier.

For the year ended 31 March 2008 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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BRESHE (&)
(b) Z=ZEZZFFHE

ARBEBET_TT_F5t8 - EERAHAEREER
KRN BFERSAERERUEDNIEE - —FF
“FHBAEREREARNES  EPEEBVIE
WITEE  AKEEMER  EmRRGHER -
BF  BM% - —TT_FER =TT =_F)\A
NBRRAER - BREBUES RSN - FFERNE B
SHHERER -

SAATBERTA M ARTTEE MY B4R BB A S BN S 7T (2 0
RRR =TT~ Fat 8 H b fE AR RT B 6 B A
7 - BERITER B A TEBE A B BITHER
B30% ° REM+—EAMA - KRR _TT—
A8 MR E A AR B B A R A AT B
BRMEE - H&m ERARREREHTRMA
1% o (BRI EREOBEER L - ARBREAE
ISR AE ©

MEF - (THAEH - A RARBRER S E EAK R
BRE - RIRSEEERITESRE o 1A B
ARRARIRE - A BB IEHITE S RE MK
B i ey R RcRE - MEM+ B A RSN AR
0#90.1% K EAE (FR N E B ARIROERE
SRAAET  ARRERS R -

ERTEREETNMNEEREEREN —+—X
A REH—THRBAEREZBERE - KLE
RENTEFRAESETE  NERHP—REHAR
FfG - R EHEREBREISRTFAZE - H]
BE R_TT_F5rE2/HRATE -
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27 Share options schemes (continued)

80

(b) 2002 Scheme (continued)

The exercise price of the share option is determinable by the directors,
but may not be less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the
company’s shares on the date of the offer of the share options, (ii)
the average closing price of the company’s shares for the five trading
days immediately preceding the date of the offer; and (iii) the nominal
value of the share.

Details of the outstanding share options of the 2002 Scheme during

“ZRN\F=ZH=1+—HLFE CUETIIE)

27 MBRRERTEI (R
(b) =TT FRE@E)
BRENTRERDHESEE  HETEERT
FIBEE - () ARRMEBBRIER HE B oMb

& () ARRHERG KL BB RER S H&F
BT E ¢ Gii) RIE(E °

RERMRTEN T _FENBRIENFE

the year are as follows: s
Market
Number of share options Period Price per value per
BREHE during share to be share at
Name or Outstanding Granted  Exercised Lapsed Outstanding which paid on date of
category of at 1 April during during during  at 31 March Date options exercise of grant of
participant 2007 theyear  the year the year 2008 granted exercisable options options
RZZ2LE RZZENE TRERE RHBRE
mA-A ZA=t-A AXAM EAf
RERERZTRG HATE  REARY RERGRE  RERKRR  HAGR RUAH BRETES BRER RemE
Employees 3,500,000 - - - 3,500,000 9 August 2002 9 August 2003 to $0.175 90.175
8 August 2012
= ZZEE\AAR ZEE=F/\ANAE 01751 01757
“2-—%§)\RNA
An employee 6,400,000 - - - 6,400,000 9 August 2002 9 February 2003 to $0.175 $0.175
8 August 2012
= e k12 = = Sl = 01757 01757
“T—£\A\H
9,900,000 - - - 9,900,000

At 31 March 2008, the number of shares outstanding and issuable
under the Pre-IPO Scheme and the 2002 Scheme were 70,140,000
and 9,900,000, respectively.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to
vote at shareholders’ meetings.

RZZENE=A=1+—0  LHExr_-"=F
ZEETEIRBITHMRDE B 5 511470,140,0008% &
9,900,000p% °

BREYER TRHAARBRBEEERERASRERE
KRR °
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For the year ended 31 March 2008 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

28 Capital and reserves 28 EBAXRKf#E
(@) Share capital (@) BAR
(i) The company (i) RAT]

2008 —EZB)N\F 2007 —ZET+F

$ T $ 7T
Authorised: EERA
2,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 2,000,000,0008% &R&EE
$0.01 each 0.017CHY EmAX 20,000,000 20,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BT R
907,536,000 ordinary shares of 907,536,000 &I H{E
$0.01 each 0.017CHY EfAR 9,075,360 9,075,360
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as LERITAE ABETRKEAERNRE - WHE
declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at RAEEEHE LRER—FRERR - A TERK
meetings of the company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard RSB FIEREEH HE RS o
to the company’s residual assets.
(ii) Terms of unexpired and unexercised share options at balance (ii) REEE B8R B HA R R 17150 0 B AR A
sheet date
Exercise 2008 —EENE 2007 —TTEF
Exercise period price Number Number
T8 T8 L4 28
21 August 2001 to T N\A=+—HZE
11 February 2011 —T——%_A+—H $0.095 70,140,000 70,140,000
9 August 2003 to “ET=FN\ANEBEZ
8 August 2012 —Z2——%/\A/\B $0.175 3,500,000 3,500,000
9 February 2003 to —EE=F-_ANRBAZE
8 August 2012 —E——FNANH $0.175 6,400,000 6,400,000
80,040,000 80,040,000
Each option entitles the holder to subscribe for one ordinary share BRERE NG RN —IRERERE —RAAF
in the company. Further details of these options are set out in note Ak o B ABEREISEHR AN B mERM 27 o

27 to the financial statements.
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“ZRN\F=ZH=1+—HLFE CUETIIE)

28 Capital and reserves (continued) 28 EBEXRKf#E @&
(b)  Reserves (o) fEE
(i) The group (i) REE
The amounts of the group’s reserves and the movements therein REBRFEEREZIINGEEREBE
are presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
(ii) The company (i) RAF]
Share
premium Accumulated
(note (c)(i)) losses Total
IR A7 R E
(HF=E(c)(i)) REEE &t
$ T $ 7T $ T
Balance at RZZEZTRFHOA—HB
1 April 2006 iR 22,816,249 (24,636,206) (1,819,957)
Profit for the year FRNm A - 231,103 231,103
Balance at RZEZLF=HA=+—H
31 March 2007 R_ZTZ+FMA—H
and 1 April 2007 22,816,249 (24,405,103) (1,588,854)
Profit for the year F R F| - 112,817 112,817
Balance at RZZZENF=A=+—H
31 March 2008 wEER 22,816,249 (24,292,286) (1,476,037)

82

() Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Share premium

The application of the share premium account is governed by the

company’s articles of association and the Companies Law of the

Cayman Islands, which provides that the share premium account

may be applied in making distributions or paying dividends to

members, provided that immediately following the date on which

distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the company will be

able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

The share premium may also be distributed in the form of fully paid

bonus shares.

(c) RENWHEERED
(i) i s (8

B RENSHAEXRSHESRRVERAABMEE
SRARE  ERERIFARREZREE DK
FRNREE R AMEEAREBRIETIHNE
BHN - B (E R AR ABIR D IR LIRS © B
1B IR A PAB R AL AR 2%
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Capital and reserves (continued)
(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)
(ii) Merger reserve

The group’s merger reserve represents the difference between the
aggregate of the nominal value of the share capital of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation completed on 18
November 2000 over the nominal value of the share capital of the
company issued in exchange therefor.

(iii) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations as well as the effective portion of any foreign exchange
differences arising from hedges of the net investment in these foreign
operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in note 2(0).

(iv) Investment revaluation reserve

The investment revaluation reserve has been set up and is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policies adopted for other
investments in debt and equity securities in note 2(d).

(d) Distributability of reserves

At 31 March 2008, the aggregate amount of the group’s reserves
available for distribution to shareholders of the company was
$1,566,535 (2007: $70,258).

(e) Capital management

The group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so
that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits
for other stakeholders, by pricing products and services
commensurately with the level of risk and by securing access to
finance at a reasonable cost.

The group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between the higher shareholder
returns and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital
position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of

changes in economic conditions.

For the year ended 31 March 2008 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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(i) AGHEE

AEBHANEHERE  RE-FTEF+—AT

NBERRINEE - AR F A LA AR AN IR B R UL
BB AR A EAIREE

i) MR

SNESTE 3 (8 B AR 2R B MBI TS OB TS TR &Y
SNEIE R ZR - RIS M AR eI EBIRE
EEMINEZR o FEEIRIESRNINE20) 5 BRE
3 o

(iv)  REMHERE

A SEREREHE2)BERREMRENER X
R A B ERAE IR -

(d) AIDERE

R-ZBENF=ZA=FT—HRAADEF AT
REFEEESEA1,566,53570 (T ZTZ 4 : 70,258
JT) °

(e) EXER

RSB ETR B 1R AR E IR IR DALR 7S S [ 1 A R
BIERLT) - DABEE R M PR SRR A [0 3R R[] Lt
MHERATRENE - AERES RERRKT AR
HERBEEASERARE2ERES -

AEE TR E PR EEAEB AR FESE
WEBR  RIEFRZERESEEANNN - REL
BN TMEL S E A e ) Ze #5 -
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28 Capital and reserves (continued)

29

84

(e) Capital management (continued)

The group monitors its capital structure on the basis of a net debt-
to-adjusted capital ratio. For this purpose the group defines net
debt as total debt (which includes short-term borrowings and trade
and other payables) plus unaccrued proposed dividends, less cash
and cash equivalents and pledged bank deposits. Adjusted capital
comprises all components of equity less unaccrued proposed
dividends.

During the year, the group’s strategy, which was unchanged from
2007, was to maintain the net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio at the
lower end of the range 50% to 64%. In order to maintain or adjust
the ratio, the group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, issue new shares, return capital to shareholders, raise
new debt financing or sell assets to reduce debt.

Neither the company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to
externally imposed capital requirements.

Financial instruments

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises in
the normal course of the group’s business. The group is also exposed
to equity price risk arising from its investments in available-for-sale
financial assets.

These risks are limited by the group’s financial management policies
and practices described below.

(a) Credit risk

The group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other
receivables. Management has a credit policy in place and the
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

In respect of trade and other receivables, individual credit evaluations
are performed on all customers requiring credit over a certain
amount. These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of
making payments when due and current ability to pay, and take
into account information specific to the customer as well as
pertaining to the economic environment in which the customer
operates. Trade receivables are due within 30 days to 60 days from
the date of billing. Normally, the group does not obtain collateral

from customers.

“ZRN\F=ZH=1+—HLFE CUETIIE)
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Financial instruments (continued)
(a) Credit risk (continued)

The group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the
individual characteristics of each customer. The default risk of the
industry and country in which customers operate also has an
influence on credit risk but to a lesser extent. At the balance sheet
date, the group has a certain concentration of credit risk as 25%
(2007: 27%) and 44% (2007: 45%) of the total trade and other
receivables was due from the group’s largest customer and the five
largest customers respectively.

The maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of any
collateral held is represented by the carrying amount of each financial
asset in the balance sheet after deducting any impairment allowance.
Except for the financial guarantees given by the company as set out
in note 31, the group does not provide any other guarantees which
would expose the group or the company to credit risk. The maximum
exposure to credit risk in respect of these financial guarantees at
the balance sheet date is disclosed in note 31.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the group’s exposure
to credit risk arising from trade and other receivables are set out in
note 18.

(b) Liquidity risk

The group’s policy is to maintain sufficient cash and cash equivalents
or have available funding through an adequate amount of
committed annual credit facilities from banks to meet its
commitments over the next year in accordance with its strategic
plan. In the opinion of the directors of the company, most of the
borrowings that mature with one year are able to renew and the
group expects to have adequate sources of funding to finance the
group and manage the liquidity position.

For the year ended 31 March 2008 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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29 Financial instruments (continued) 29 @I AE@E
(b)  Liquidity risk (continued) (b)y EE£REBMERERS (E)

The maturity profile of the group’s financial liabilities as at the balance REEH  AEERASHNORTRN S /S &7

86

sheet date, based on the contracted undiscounted payments, was AR ¢
as follows:
More than More than
Within 1 year but 2 years but
1 year or less than less than 2008
The group on demand 2 years 5 years Total
R—FR BA-F BAmE “EBENE
x5 REEREE BORMEF BORESF ast
$ T $ T $TT $ T
Trade and bills payables [ERE 5 RERIER 1,796,043 - - 1,796,043
Accrued charges and [ERT B KA
other payables 1R 9,321,832 - - 9,321,832
Gross amount due to customers EREPHRBE L
for service contract work TRFIELE 253,073 - - 253,073
Deferred maintenance income BRERBBA 865,120 55,000 - 920,120
Retention money payables ERRE 2 14,400 - - 14,400
Bank loans BITEE 6,455,737 - - 6,455,737
Bank overdrafts RITEX 4,299,977 - - 4,299,977
23,006,182 55,000 - 23,061,182
More than More than
Within 1 year but 2 years but
1 year or less than less than 2007
The group on demand 2 years 5 years Total
R—%R HE—F B E “TTtF
AEE FEEKRER ~ BIRWEF EBARAEF A&t
$ 7T $ 7T $ 7T $ 7T
Trade and bills payables [ERE 5 RERIER 3,467,102 = = 3,467,102
Accrued charges and [EET B R KA AR
other payables 1R 9,173,872 - - 9,173,872
Other borrowings HinfaE 648,716 = = 648,716
Gross amount due to customers EREPERBEE L
for service contract work TiERBEE 343,661 - - 343,661
Deferred maintenance income BERERERA 884,364 60,000 55,000 999,364
Retention money payables ERRE 14,400 - - 14,400
Bank loans RITEE 6,149,689 - - 6,149,689
Bank overdrafts BITEX 2,779,715 - - 2,779,715
23,461,519 60,000 55,000 23,576,519
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Financial instruments (continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (continued)
The maturity profile of the company’s financial liabilities as at the

balance sheet date, based on the contracted undiscounted
payments, was as follows:

The company

Accrued charges and other payables

et B A R E MR IR

For the year ended 31 March 2008 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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BE_TTN\F=A=1+—HLFE CABTIIE)

- =)
(b) EE&RBMERE ()

REEH  AREMBESONRITRNSR A AT
RIAT

2008 2007
Within 1 year Within 1 year
or on demand or on demand

—EENF —EETLF
R—FR R—FR"
FEEREE SR ERIEE
$ T $ T

716,017 678,474

(c) Interest rate risk

The group’s significant interest-bearing assets are bank deposits.
The group’s interest income is dependent on changes in market
interest rates and will not have significant adverse impact on the
group’s financial position.

The group’s exposure to interest rate risk arises from its short-term
borrowings. These borrowings bear interests at rates varying with
the then prevailing market condition.

A reasonably possible change of 100 basis points in interest rates
would have no significant impact on the group’s and company’s
profit and equity for the year.

(d)  Currency risk

The group has minimal exposure to currency risk as most of its
business transactions, assets and liabilities are principally
denominated in $, United States dollars (“US$"), Macau Patacas
and Renminbi (“RMB"). The group currently does not have a currency
hedging policy in respect of currency debt. The group will monitor
its currency exposure closely and will consider hedging significant
currency exposure should the need arise.

(c)  FIZERPk

AEENEZKH B EEDRBITER « AEBEF
BUABKETISF R EE) - (EHAREBAU BN
Pz 23

AEEMMXERKREEREE - ZFEFIREE
=

R H) IS & BT B R EN S -

E10OMEEF M A IE Al LR BN T & AR R H A
REAREER N MEREEBATE

(d) E¥ER

HRAEBARBNEBR S BERBEHEEN
BT X RFIERARBINE - MEAZHI
ERBRIRK - NEBENBEHEBR SR SEINERR
(B BAKEHBES AU R ER - EITINE
RERERR - AEEKEBERESMNERR - WNH
7 R ASNEEH A B IMNERR
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For the year ended 31 March 2008 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BHEZ

Financial instruments (continued)
(d)  Currency risk (continued)

The following table details the group’s exposure at the balance sheet
date to currency risk arising from recognised assets or liabilities

TE)\F- A+ HILFE GABTIE)

29

£RT A (@)
(d) EBE¥ERE

AEENEERBAST BN EREBNERE
#%) 25 IJE’JEE REE K BERTE AN E R E AL

denominated in US$, a currency other than the functional currency TS s
of the entity to which they relate.
2008 —ZFE)\F 2007 —ZTZTLEF
$ T $ T
Available-for-sale financial assets AP ESREE 1,653,600 1,487,900
Cash and cash equivalents HERIBESEEY 48,012 23,962
Trade and other receivables FEUTE 5 K EL At FE U IR 3R - 508,636
Trade and other payables eI B 5 K E A EIRR (114,424) (95,466)
Gross exposure arising from BEMBBEEENE
assets and liabilities R 1,587,188 1,925,032
A reasonable possible change of 5% in exchange rate between US$ BT FEXE5% A BN EHANEE AR

to $ would have no significant impact on the group’s and company’s
profit and equity for the year.

Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to PRC Foreign
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement,
Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.

(e)  Equity price risk

The group’s available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair
value at each balance sheet date. Therefore, the group is exposed
to equity price risk. The directors manage this exposure by
maintaining a portfolio of investments with difference risk profiles.

At 31 March 2008, if the market price of the guaranteed fund had
increased by 10% with all other variables held constant, the
consolidated investment revaluation reserve would have been
$165,360 (2007: $148,790) higher. If the market price of the
guaranteed fund had decreased by 10% with all other variables
held constant, the consolidated investment revaluation reserve would
have been $165,360 (2007: $148,790) lower.

(f) Fair values

All financial instruments are carried at amounts not materially
different from their fair values as at 31 March 2007 and 2008.

B FREN RSN EERTE °

ARBMEGINE RN EARATB BRI
PEEIR RO R ABEE - EE R EE IR -

(e) REZERAR

AEENAHEESREENSEEBUNATER
T8 - At AREASZERERER - EFHUF
FrIARBRNKEHRSER -

RZFZNF=A=+—0  BHMAZERETE
MRBELSHISERIEN0% @ FAREGERE
1% A1EF165,3607T (ZFZT+4F : 148,7907T) © &
Hih ] BERAXTEMRBFES TIBERRD10% -
AR BGEFEEATE165,360T (=TS +

£ 1 148,7907T) ©

) ANEEE

AT TAENAKRSHREEN _TTLEL—F
ZNF=ZA=+—"HBHAFHEEEERTF -
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30 Commitments 30 AiE
At 31 March 2008, the total future minimum lease payments under REZZBENF=A=+—0  AEEREE@BYE
non-cancellable operating leases are payable as follows: MR HEEEREMER BRI NHRERER
HWAT :
The group
rEE
2008 —ZEE)\F 2007 —_ZTTtF
$ T $ 7T
Within 1 year —FR 1,838,009 1,694,894
After 1 year but within 5 years —FRAFA 700,486 2,102,114
2,538,495 3,797,008

The group is the lessee in respect of a number of properties and REEEE TRERENMERRETRES @ 1
items of office equipment held under operating leases. The leases WA —MEOERZE=F (T LtF: —FE2=
typically run for a period of 4 months to 3 years (2007: 1 year to 2 F) I AR R M2 T EFRE - ZEHEAIR
years) with an option to review the lease when all terms are BEMASAES -
renegotiated. None of the leases includes contingent rentals.
The group and the company did not have any other significant capital REERAARR_ZZNF=A=+—HILEE
and financial commitments as at 31 March 2008 (2007: Nil). AEANERNRIBEEE (CETLF &) -
Contingent liabilities 31 TWMAEE

31

At 31 March 2008, the company has issued corporate guarantees
to banks in respect of banking facilities granted to certain wholly
owned subsidiaries.

At 31 March 2008, the directors do not consider it probable that a
claim will be made against the company under any of the guarantees.
The maximum liability of the company at the balance sheet date
under the corporate guarantees issued is the banking facilities drawn
down by the subsidiaries of $11 million (2007: $10 million).

RZZBZNF=A=+—0H - ARAgtET2&M
BARRRITRVE MR RELR

RZZEN\F=A=+—R  EEXTRRARAF
BAEEHTAARBERORE  MARRREHE
REMBARRTRENCERRTERAER
11,000,0007T (=FZ 4 : 10,000,0007T) °
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33
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BHE

“ZRN\F=ZH=1+—HLFE CUETIIE)

Material related party transactions 32 EBERBEALXRF
(@) Key management personnel remuneration (a) HREEAEMS
Remuneration for key management personnel of the group, AARBREEABMS BB NAARESE KT
including amounts paid to the company’s directors as disclosed in ISR MEFEAT
note 8, is as follows:
2008 —EEN\F 2007 —ZZT+4F
$ T $ T
Short-term employee benefits I E SR 1,762,500 1,749,000
Post-employment benefits EREER 32,100 35,100
1,794,600 1,784,100
Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see note 6(b)). BT (AHiFE6(b) EREaME -
(b)  Provision of personal guarantees (b)  IREEAER
Three directors of the company have provided personal guarantees RARN=BEEFRAEBNE TRITRLE (R
to the extent of approximately $33 million (2007: $32 million) to 25) R A833,000,000 0 (=TT L5 :
the group in relation to general banking facilities granted to the 32,000,0007T) AIEAFELR
group (see note 25).
Comparative figures 33 HLEREE

As a result of adopting HKFRS 7 “Financial instruments: Disclosures”
and the amendment to HKAS 1 “Presentation of financial
statements: Capital disclosures”, certain comparative figures have
been adjusted to conform with changes in disclosures in the current
year and to show separately comparative amounts in respect of
items disclosed for the first time in 2008. Further details are disclosed
in note 3.

HRRAR B IREENE e TA : HES
BREBEHERIF 1 (5] MR 27 &
AHE - ETHREFE THEAFERFENR
B UKERE_ZTZN\FERRERALANE
PILLERERT o ARSI S35 -
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Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Note 29 contains information about the assumptions and their risk
factors relating to valuation of financial instruments. Other key
sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:

(@) Revenue and profit recognition

The group estimates the percentage of completion of the service
contracts by reference to the proportion that contract costs incurred
for work performed to date to the estimated total costs for the
contracts. When the final cost incurred by the group is different
from the amounts that were initially budgeted, such differences
will impact the revenue and the profit or loss recognised in the
period in which such determination is made. Budget cost of each
project will be reviewed periodically and revised accordingly where
significant variances are noted during the revision.

(b)  Fixed assets and depreciation

The group determines the estimated useful lives and related
depreciation charges for the group’s fixed assets. This estimate is
based on the historical experience of the actual useful lives of fixed
assets of similar nature and functions.

() Impairment on trade and other receivables

The policy for impairment on trade and other receivables of the
group is based on the evaluation of collectability and ageing analysis
of accounts and on management’s judgement. A considerable
amount of judgement is required in assessing the ultimate realisation
of these receivables, including the current creditworthiness and the
past collection history of each customer. If the financial conditions
of customers of the group were to deteriorate, resulting in an
impairment of their ability to make payments, additional impairment
may be required.

(d)  Write-down of inventories

Write-down of inventories is made based on the ageing and
estimated net realisable value of inventories. The assessment of the
write-down amount involves judgement and estimates. Where the
actual outcome in future is different from the original estimate,
such difference will impact the carrying value of inventories and
write-down amount charge/reverse in the period in which such
estimate has been changed.

For the year ended 31 March 2008 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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BT AR EN EERIR

2o BafMeR TAGENRREERREA
= AR TR =ME M ER IR T

(@) WEKaFHER

AEBSES A ANBETIZMELNSKIRA
MIEEA KRR BB PIGFRES ORTERE
DLL o M AN B AT A RO AR AR AN B R TR B Y
FENR - BHEEREEELREBHENE#ER
WA KBz - FIH B OFEE KA TE R R MR
ERTHIR L IREAREE) - BIGIEH{ER] °

(b) BEEEERFE

AEBREAREEEEEEN G A ERAKERH
WEER  MeEkiETREBEABEEREN
ARNAMEEEENERAERIMMmE -

(c) RBHESRAMEBRIRRERE

RS U 5 R B R 2 A TSR
IR RIRE ST - DARERE I - ERF TS
MR EEERBENR SR — TR
HIBT - B AREE S AE BRSBTS
(B NIREEHS - 67 BESIAE -

(d TFEFE

FEFEIARIEIRE AR AT EZFE - MiTER
EF RE R hat o B RREREREFIREH
RER  AIZERBENEFENBER - D5
FEFENREEMFEORURSPE -
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35 Possible impact of amendments, new 35 #HBZEZZEENF=ZA=+—HILEE

standards and interpretations issued but not EEMERERNIEET - HERRR
yet effective for the year ended 31 March BNEEXE

2008

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA HELEMBRETE 2B  AEGAIAEEME
has issued a number of amendments, new standards and MZIEER] - HERIRZE  EREE_TT/N\F
interpretations which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 A=+ —BIEFENRER - B RN FITE
March 2008 and which have not been adopted in these financial MRERAN ©

statements.

Of these developments, the following relate to matters that may be TR R - AN AP R AAANE AL S At
relevant to the group’s operations and financial statements: B

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

RLUT B BBA%R
e HER AR ER
HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of financial statements — Comprehensive 1 January 2009
revision including requiring a statement of
comprehensive income
BB ERNE15E — BT ISR 23 — TEIRAE - BERETEN KGR —ZEThF—H—H
HKAS 23 (Revised) Borrowings costs — Comprehensive revision to prohibit 1 January 2009
immediate expensing
BEGFERE235 — &I85] EERZAR — 281 B 2 Y 2 TSR] —TTNF—A—H
HKAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and separate financial statements 1 July 2009
— Consequential amendments arising from amendments
to HKFRS 3
BEETERE275% — &KIER] fra RAERIH B 5k — BBV B REERIZE35R —ZEThFLH—H
BRI EEMEET
HKFRS 2 (Amendment) Share-based payment — Amendment relating to vesting 1 January 2009
conditions and cancellations
BEMBMELERE2: —EFIA UROAER I — BB SRR R K ErER] —TENF—H—H
HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business combinations — Comprehensive revision on 1 July 2009
applying the acquisition method
BEPBRELAEINR —KIEF] EBEH - ERKBENTEERT —ZEThFLHH
HKFRS 8 Operating segments 1 January 2009
BB TR AR F 85 EEDED —ZEThF—H—H

92



il= ITE (Holdings) Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2007-2008 4F 3§

Notes to the Financial Statements Bf#§#RRKizE
BE_TTN\F=A=1+—HLFE CABTIIE)

For the year ended 31 March 2008 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

35 Possible impact of amendments, new 35 HE-ZEENF=ZA=+—HILEE

standards and interpretations issued but not BB ERERNERT ~ FERRZ
yet effective for the year ended 31 March EBNEBEESE (B
2008 (continued)

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

R BB
WETHHIR S AR E XK
HK(IFRIC) — Int12 Service concession arrangements 1 January 2008
B4 (BB BHREREZESR) PR 75 25 i 2o HE —ZEZN\F—-H—H
—REE125%
HK(IFRIC) — Int13 Customer loyalty programmes 1 July 2008
B (ERVBHREREZES®) X BB E —EZN\F+HA—H
— RS 135
HK(IFRIC) — Int14 HKAS 19 — The limit on a defined 1 January 2008
benefit asset, minimum funding
requirements and their interaction
B (ERVBHREREZES) ARG 195: — AN —ZEZN\F—-HA—H
—Z2EE 1455 BE  XEBEEREREEER
YEFR 2 BR il
The directors have confirmed that the group is in the process of ERD RS E ETATEHLESET - AR
making an assessment of what the impact of these amendments, EREEVRERBRNTE < 25N R AT
new standards and new interpretations is expected to be in the ZE5] L RRER TS RSB S EXEE
period of initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption RS ERERNE -

of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the group’s results
of operations and financial position.
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Five Year Summary A F =

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(A787TFIE)

2007/08 2006/07 2005/06 2004/05 2003/04
“EZLFENE —TERERELE —TTRETNE _TTNETHE —TT-REMNF
$ T JT $ 7T $ 7T $ 7T

Results ES
Turnover EEE 77,492,591 66,829,725 65,725,317 48,470,321 61,842,809
Profit/(loss) from operations LERE/ (B18) 2,404,538 792,233 1,989,624 (14,880,571) (11,317,375)
Finance costs BB A (1,200,913) (1,440,191) (1,245,864) (728,781) (721,055)
Gain on disposals of HERHHE

available-for-sale SREERE

financial assets - 1,825,850 - - -
Profit/(loss) before taxation BREATEF/ (B58) 1,203,625 1,177,892 743,760 (15,609,352) (12,038,430)
Income tax Frie®t (118,015) (220,466) (150,000) = =
Profit/(loss) for the year ARRREES

attributable to shareholders FEREF/ (E58)

of the company 1,085,610 957,426 593,760 (15,609,352) (12,038,430)
Earnings/(loss) per share SRER,/ (58)
Basic 29N 0.12 cents 1l 0.11 cents fll 0.07 cents fll (1.72 cents 1) (1.33 cents )
Diluted 3 0.12 cents 1l N/ATER N/ATER N/ATER N/AE
Assets and liabilities BERERE
Fixed assets ErEE 659,642 792,989 361,123 662,436 1,366,125
Goodwill mE - - - = 7,289,408
Investment securities REES - = = 2,249,670 2,484,010
Available-for-sale financial assets ~ AIftHESREE 1,653,600 1,487,900 3,527,893 - -
Net current assets REEEFE 8,328,653 6,864,729 4,137,544 4,566,913 12,365,458
Total assets less current liabilites #EERTHEE 10,641,895 9,145,618 8,026,560 7,479,019 23,505,001
Non-current liabilities EEI=E - - - - (416,630)
Net assets BEFE 10,641,895 9,145,618 8,026,560 7,479,019 23,088,371
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Characteristics of The Growth Enterprise Market (“GEM"”) of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange™)

GEM has been established as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a high investment risk may/
be attached. In particular, companies may list on GEM with neither a track record of proﬁtrtllty nor any obhgatlo
to forecast future profitability. Furthermore, there may be risks arising out of the emergini;ature of comg
listed on GEM and the business sectors or countries in which the companies operate. Prospective investor.s 's uld
be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due
and careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other characteristics o?‘“ﬁEM mean that it is @ market more

suited to professional and other sophisticated investors.

; o i
' =

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM ma‘y.,bé'r?:.ere !
susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main IBoard and no assuran-ceus glven that there

will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM. o

Joghos, L
] ‘:t .I" 'r_.l L
— . . . g : Ne W ; - i R . T
The principal means of information dissemination on GEM is publication on the internet website operated by the A

Stock Exchange. Listed companies are not generally required to issue paid announcements in gazetted hewspaper

Accordingly, prospective investors should note that they need to have access to the GEM WebSlte in order to thaln !

up-to-date information on GEM-listed issuers. 2 ey

ERBMARSFERAT <rx5ﬁm>§U¥$ﬁmtﬁ<rﬁu¥% E"zi%@ ¥

i

X . ik
BIRIR A A SIRARBNATIRE LTS o £ AEALIR A EARE BERFIEE - AR TR

Rl o AN - FERIEAR A 77!E%%&E&%% W%%FWH%&I%ﬁmﬁﬁﬁ o B B AL R
BERZENTNEERR - L RCREEFNENEBETIELITERT o AI2AR 8 SE R R E i o R R 2R
ﬁaﬁ%&ﬁmﬁ%EEW&é%o ﬁ

BREIZER ETO AR B EMNE - EREREENEST QEQEEQ%Fﬁi’f&E%‘iﬁ@%%ﬁk%ﬁkﬁ’ﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ :
RAEERELAEREENESFSESNBENTS ° y
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